
EXECUTIVE
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street,
                                        Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 
Date: Tuesday, 12th February, 2019
Time: 4.00 pm
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby          Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 24 January 
2019 

1 - 10

3. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

4. Written Questions from Members of the Public 

5. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6. Forward Plan 11 - 18

7. Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules 19 - 64

8. 2018/19 Council Performance Plan - Quarter 3 65 - 92

9. Health and Safety Half Yearly Monitoring Report 93 - 96

10. Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday 12th March 2019 
at 2:00pm in the Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven.

NOTES

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during the 
consideration of exempt or confidential items. If you have a query on the meeting 
arrangements or if you require a copy of this document in a different format (large print, 
braille, audio tape, electronic formats such as CD or in a different language) please contact 
the relevant officer as shown below. 

Public Document Pack



Call-In
Most of the decisions taken by the Executive can be ‘called in’, in accordance with Council’s 
Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision notice being published. It is expected 
that the decision notice will be published on 15 February 2019. Subject to this publication, 
the deadline for calling in any decision is 5.00pm on 22 February 2019. 

Emergency procedures
In the event of a fire alarm being sounded please follow the instructions of the Chair; leave 
the building via the nearest emergency exit and make your way to the Fire Assembly Point 
located in the Copeland Centre car park.

Reporting 
Recording, filming and reporting of this meeting is allowed but must be done in accordance 
with the protocol which is clearly displayed in the room and all mobile devices must be 
switched to silent.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



Notice of Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers 
by the Executive on Thursday, 24 January 2019

NOTES: The deadline for calling in any of these decisions is 5.00 pm on 5 February 2019.

A copy of the Executive agenda setting out all the reports has previously been circulated to all 
Members of the Council.

Please note that Agenda Item 7 (Draft Revenue Budget 2019/20, Medium Term Financial Plan 
(2019-2022), 2019/20 Treasury Management Strategy and Draft Capital Programme (2019-2022)) 
is a recommendation to Council and therefore cannot be called in.

Officers are asked to read this Decision Notice, as it is the responsibility of the Officer named in 
the Action Column to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.

If you require further information on any issue, please contact the Officer named in the right hand 
column.  For general information or to obtain a copy of any documentation please contact 
Democratic Services.

Present: Mike Starkie (Mayor); Councillors David Moore (Deputy Mayor), Mark Holliday and 
Allan Holliday.

Apologies for Absence: Julie Betteridge, Executive Director Operations.

Officers Present: Pat Graham, Chief Executive; Steven Brown, Chief Financial Officer; Mike 
Graham, Political Advisor; Sarah Pemberton, Head of Governance and Commercial; Jo McLeod, 
Head of Corporate Resources; Clinton Boyce, Solicitor; Andrew Clarke, Communications and 
Engagement Manager; Stephanie Shaw, Electoral and Democratic Services Manager; Clive 
Willoughby, Democratic Services Officer; James Young, Scrutiny Officer.

Statements of Decisions – The Statements of Decisions made on the 15th January 2019 were 
signed by the Mayor as a correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS IN AGENDA ITEMS:

Decision

No declarations of Interest were made by those present.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
4 WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Decision

Not applicable as no questions had been received from Members of the 
public.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
5 REPORTS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

To receive any recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been consulted on the 
Mayor’s Draft Budget Proposal 2019-2022 at their meeting on 21 January 
2019.
Questions raised by Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the responses 
were contained within a supplementary report tabled at the meeting.

Decision

RESOLVED - that the OSC response be included in the budget report to Full 
Council on 5 February 2019.

Reason for Decision

As part of the budget setting process Overview and Scrutiny were consulted 
and their comments were received by the Executive. 
No recommendations were made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
6. FORWARD PLAN

Decision

RESOLVED - that subject to it being noted that the Community Asset 
Transfer Policy and the report on Off Street Car Parking Order would be 
determined by Executive and not Council the forward plan be noted.

Reason for Decision

The Local Authority (Executive Arrangements (Access to information 
(England) Regulations 2012 requires a forward plan to be prepared in 
respect of key decisions.  The work plan is good practice.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 3



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
7. DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET 2019/20, MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN (2019-

2022), 2019/20 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND DRAFT CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME (2019-2022)

Decision

RESOLVED – That 
a) the Financial Strategy Principles as set out in Appendix A of the 

agenda report which are applied to the Elected Mayor’s draft budget 
for 2019/20 and 2019-2022 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
Projections be endorsed,

b) the Mayor’s proposal to increase Council Tax by 1.95% for 2019/20 
be endorsed, 

c) the Mayor’s 2019/20 Draft Revenue Budget and 2019 – 2022 MTFS 
as set out in Section 2 of the report which includes the fees & 
charges schedule for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix B of the agenda 
report be endorsed,

d) the Mayor’s draft Capital Strategy for 2019/20 that includes the 
draft Capital Programme for 2019/20 – 2021/22 as set out in 
Appendix C of the agenda report be endorsed,

e) the 2019/20 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
as set out in Appendix D of the agenda report be endorsed,

f) the continuation of the current Local Council Tax Support Scheme as 
set out in Section 6 of the agenda report be approved.

g) delegated authority be given to the Section 151 Officer, in 
consultation with the Mayor and Chief Executive, to update the 
Elected Mayor’s draft budget for 2019/20 following receipt of final 
grant notifications, Council Tax and Business Rate estimates.

h) that the above items be recommended to Council.
i) That the good work undertaken by the Chief Finance Officer and his 

team in preparing the budget be acknowledged.

Reason for Decision

This report forms part of the Budget & Policy Framework within an Elected 
Mayor authority. The Executive is receiving this information to consider and 
endorse the Elected Mayor’s draft budget for 2019/20 and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy projections up to 2021/22.

These proposals ensure the proper administration of the Council’s Financial 
affairs to enable the continued delivery of services to Copeland residents. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Steven Brown,     
Chief Finance 
Officer.

Page 4



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
8. RESPONSE TO PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE REPORT ON NDA PROGRESS 

ON RISK REDUCTION AT SELLAFIELD

Decision

RESOLVED – that delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive in 
cooperation with the Elected Mayor of the Council and the Portfolio Holder 
for Nuclear and Corporate Affairs, to provide a response to the Chair of the 
Public Accounts Committee, regarding the Public Accounts Committee 
report on the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority’s Progress on Risk 
Reduction at Sellafield.

Reason for Decision

A paper was presented to the Strategic Nuclear & Energy Board (SNEB) in 
December 2018, which presented an overview of the PAC Report, 
highlighted key areas of interest to Copeland, and proposed a position on 
each of the key findings. Given the significance of this issue to Copeland and 
its communities, it was decided by the Board that this paper should be 
escalated to Executive for consideration.

The 2018 Public Accounts Committee (PAC) Report on the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority’s (NDA) Progress on Risk Reduction at Sellafield 
(“the PAC Report”) sets out a number of findings that are critical of the 
NDA’s performance in reducing risk at Sellafield. These findings cover: its 
delivery and oversight of projects, the effectiveness of oversight and 
governance arrangements, and whether the NDA is delivering value to the 
taxpayer and meeting its social and economic obligations to the community.
The Council expects action by the NDA to address the PAC 
recommendations, to improve the extraction of social and economic value 
from the Sellafield site to the benefit of the taxpayer and Copeland’s 
economy and communities, while accelerating risk reduction at Sellafield.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Pat Graham, 
Chief Executive.

Page 5



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
9. INDUSTRIAL SOLUTIONS HUB PROJECT

Decision

RESOLVED – that the initiation of the procurement process for support 
services to develop a business case for the development of the Industrial 
Solutions Hub be supported.

Reason for Decision

This report has been submitted to the Executive to request approval to 
initiate the process for procurement of support services relating to the 
development of the Industrial Solutions Hub project.

The procurement of support services to the Industrial Solutions Hub project 
aims to provide the project with the necessary professional inputs to 
establish the business case and business plan for the project. The project is 
seen as a cornerstone transformation project which will drive diversification 
of the local economy, create new business opportunities in the locality, 
build collaboration amongst the supply chain to respond to business 
opportunities and provide a support network to encourage new business 
start-ups and nurture existing business development.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Pat Graham, 
Chief Executive.

Page 6



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
10. ADDITIONAL STRATEGIC HOUSING RESOURCES

Decision

RESOLVED:- that
a) the acceptance and use of the additional 2018 Community Led 

Housing funding of £58,500 to be drawn down against spend in 
2018/19 and 2019/20, as required, be agreed and

b) the receipt and use of the additional Disabled Facilities Grant 
funding of £126,898 for spend in 2018/19 be agreed. 

Reason for Decision

Copeland Borough Council received Community Led Housing (CLH) funding 
from Central Government funding in 2016.  Funding was provided to all 
Local Authorities that had a high prevalence of second homes within their 
stock profile.  This report provides an update on the Council’s use of the 
funding and confirmation of a successful bid to access further funds from 
the newly announced 2018 fund. This will allow the team to continue and 
accelerate the delivery of Community Led Housing (CLH) in Copeland.  

It also informs the Executive of a further £69,038 of Disabled Facilities Grant 
which has been made available to Copeland Borough Council from a Central 
Government Fund of £55 million. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

Julie Betteridge, 
Executive 
Director 
Operations

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

Decision

RESOLVED – that the press and public be excluded for the remaining item of 
business in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of part 1 of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended)

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 7



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
11. STRATEGIC AGREEMENT

Decision

RESOLVED – that the Executive supports the principle of entering into a 
Strategic Agreement with the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) 
and Cumbria County Council (CCC) and delegates the signing of the final 
agreement to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Elected Mayor 
and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate Services.

Reason for Decision

This report has been submitted to the Executive to outline the purpose and 
role of the Strategic Agreement and to seek Executive approval to delegate 
the signing of the final agreement to the Chief Executive in consultation 
with the Elected Mayor and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate 
Services.  The principle of such an Agreement were established in the 2015 
Strategic Planning Agreement and this proposal allows for succession of 
that time bound agreement.

An updated agreed Strategic Agreement recognises the role that the Sellafield site 
and the Copeland community plays as the national consolidated site for the 
storage of higher level radioactive wastes, spent fuels and nuclear materials. It will 
make available an agreed level of resource to support the role that the Council and 
the local community undertakes as host to this facility.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Pat Graham, 
Chief Executive.

Page 8



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
12. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING:

Decision

It was noted that the next meeting of the Executive would be held on 
Tuesday 12 February 2019 at 4:00pm in the Bainbridge Room.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

The Meeting closed at 1:40pm 

Mayor

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

EXE February 2019
MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN 

 
Part A of this Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period. 
 
A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 
performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 
(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 
effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 
constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 
the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 
permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough. 
 
A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 
An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 
reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 
notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the ground that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred. 
 
Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 
Deputy Mayor, Allan Holliday and Mark Holliday. 
 
Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 
containing confidential or exempt information. 
 
Part B of this Plan is additional items which are to be considered which are not considered to be key decisions. 
 
  

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6



PART A

Matter in respect of 
which a key decision is to be 
made 

Who will make 
the key decision 

Date on which the decision 
will be made 

List of documents decision 
maker will consider and who 
is the relevant contact 
officer 

Likely to contain 
confidential or exempt 
information 
 

Management Rules and 
Regulations – Cemetery 

Executive Executive 12 February 2019 Julie Betteridge   – Executive 
Director Operations

No

2018/19 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 3

Executive  Executive 12 February 2019 
                

Jo McLeod – Head of 
Corporate Resources

No

Final Budget Council  Council 19 February 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer No            

Community Asset Transfer 
Policy

Executive OSC 8 February 2019
Executive 12 March 2019

Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

No

Cumbria Public Health Strategy Executive Executive 12 March 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

No 

Amendments to Discretionary 
Relief Policy

Executive  Executive 12 March 2019 Julie Betteridge   – Executive 
Director Operations

No

P
age 12



Public Space Protection Orders Executive  Executive 12 March 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

No            

Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan Executive  Executive 12 March 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

No            

Off Street Car Parking Order Executive Executive 12 March 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

No 

Millom Hub Executive Executive 12 March 2019
Council 9 April 2019

Julie Betteridge   – Executive 
Director Operations

Yes

Whitehaven Sports Centre 
Development 

Council Council 9 April 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

No

Contract Standing Orders Executive Executive 16 April 2019 Sarah Pemberton –
Head of Governance & 
Commercial (M.O.)

No

2018/19 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Capital Budget 
Quarter 3 

Executive  
 

Executive 16 April 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 3 

Executive Executive 16 April 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

P
age 13



2018/19 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive May 2019 
            

Jo McLeod – Head of 
Corporate Resources

No

2018/19 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive June 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Capital Budget 
Quarter 4 

Executive  
 

Executive June 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 4 

Executive Executive June 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 1 

Executive  Executive August 2019 
            

Jo McLeod – Head of 
Corporate Resources

No

2019/20 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 1 

Executive  Executive August 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2019/2020 Capital Budget 
Quarter 1 

Executive  
 

Executive August 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 1 

Executive Executive August 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

P
age 14



Xmas Parking Arrangements Executive Executive October 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive November 2019 
            

Jo McLeod – Head of 
Corporate Resources

No

2019/20 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive November 2019 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2019/2020 Capital Budget 
Quarter 2 

Executive  
 

Executive November 2019 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 2 

Executive Executive November 2019 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

Amendments to Discretionary 
Relief Policy

Executive  Executive January 2020 Julie Betteridge   – Executive 
Director Operations

No

Discount and Premium Policy Executive  
Council

Executive January 2020
Council February 2020

Julie Betteridge   – Executive 
Director Operations

No

Budget Consultation Outcome Executive Executive January 2020 Steven Brown – S151 Officer No

Pay Policy Statement Council Council February 2020 Jo McLeod – Head of 
Corporate Resources

No

P
age 15



Draft Budget Executive
Council

Executive January 2020
Council February 2020

Steven Brown – S151 Officer No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive February 2020 
            

Jo McLeod – Head of 
Corporate Resources

No

2019/20 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive February 2020 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2019/2020 Capital Budget 
Quarter 3 

Executive  
 

Executive February 2020 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 3 

Executive Executive February 2020 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive May 2020 
            

Jo McLeod – Head of 
Corporate Resources

No

2019/20 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive May 2020 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2019/2020 Capital Budget 
Quarter 4 

Executive  
 

Executive May 2020 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 4 

Executive Executive May 2020 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

P
age 16



 

PART B 
 

Report Who will make 
the decision 

Date on which the decision 
will be made 

List of documents decision maker 
will consider and who is the 
relevant contact officer 

Likely to contain 
confidential or 
exempt 
information  

Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly Report  

Executive  Executive 12 February 2019 Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources

No 

Beacon Update  Executive Executive 12 March 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations
 

Yes

Outside Bodies Annual Report Council Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee May 2019 
Council June 2019 

Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations
 

No 

Annual Scrutiny Report Council Council June 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

No 

Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly Report  

Executive  Executive July 2019 Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources

No 

Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly Report  

Executive  Executive February 2020 Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources

No 

P
age 17



Pay Policy Statement Council Council February 2020 Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources

No 

 

P
age 18



EXE 120219
Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules

LEAD MEMBER:  Councillor Mark Holliday
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Executive Director
REPORT AUTHOR: James Hunter, Parks & Open Spaces Manager

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS?

The Council’s refreshed Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules will clearly 
communicate to bereaved families, residents, visitors and stakeholders on how the 
Council will manage Distington Hall Crematorium and the Council’s five open cemetery 
sites.  

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
(eg Key Decision, Policy recommendation for Full Council, at request of Council, etc.)

Executive is requested to approve and adopt the revised Crematorium and Cemetery 
Management Rules as attached at Appendix I to this report and release resources for 
implementation.  

RECOMMENDATIONS:
Executive is recommended to:
1 Note the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s Task & Finish Group in 

supporting the Parks & Open Spaces team in reviewing and updating the 
crematorium and cemetery management rules.

2 Note the stakeholder engagement events carried out in Millom and Whitehaven, 
and the two public meetings hosted by the Mayor, which have supported the 
work to update and refresh the management rules.

3 Consider, approve and adopt the refreshed Crematorium and Cemetery 
Management Rules (as attached at Appendix I) for full implementation from 1st 
April 2019.

4 Consider, approve and adopt the related Communications Strategy (refer 
Appendix II).

5 Agree to the release of £15,000 from earmarked reserves to support the delivery 
of the implementation of the refreshed rules, including new signage at cemetery 
entrance points and within the grounds of Distington Hall Crematorium.

6 Note the related Equalities Impact Assessment at Appendix III.

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The current regulations were produced in 1979 and have not been formally 
reviewed since.  They are out of date in terms of language and best practice, and 
although used as a reference they have not been significantly promoted or 
communicated nor routinely or consistently enforced.

1.2 As part of the service review process in the Open Spaces Service, the Council has 
put more attention on Bereavement Services in line with the investment and 
development activity to expand and improve facilities and service offer. 

2. DISCUSSION

2.1 Executive will be aware of a significant programme of planned investment and 
improvements within our Bereavement Services.  An important element of this 
development programme is to ensure that the rules which govern our 
crematorium and cemeteries are up to date and fit for purpose.  Appendix I to 
this report contains the refreshed Crematorium and Cemetery Management 
Rules and is presented to Executive with the above recommendations.

2.2 The aim of the refreshed rules is to:
 have relevant and up to date management rules that reflect best practice 

and guidance, and support the Council in managing the crematorium and 
cemeteries

 ensure that our cemeteries and crematorium are safe and tidy places to visit 
with good access and good standards of maintenance

 provide customers and visitors with clear communication and information on 
how we manage the crematorium and open cemeteries

 support the Council’s Corporate Priorities
 support the bereavement services team in taking enforcement/management 

actions where required or when necessary

2.3 In refreshing the rules we have compared our regulations against suggested best 
practice and guidance provided by the ICCM (Institute of Cemetery & 
Crematorium Management), researched and compared with other local 
authority management rules, and considered the issues that impact upon our 
ability to provide a quality bereavement service, and a safe and respectful 
environment for all.

Page 20



2.4 The new management rules will allow us to:
o inform customers, stakeholders and visitors of how we manage 

bereavement services, Distington Hall Crematorium and open 
cemeteries

o Ensure that a consistent standard is adopted, reduce complaints, and 
support staff in communicating with service users and in enforcing 
the rules

2.5 The Rules, if and once adopted will be implemented in full by 1st April 2019.  This 
is in response to the need to ensure clarity in moving to the new rules for 
existing and new visitors and users of our bereavement facilities.  We have paid 
careful consideration in the drafting of the new rules to accommodate the rights 
and choices of individuals.  The new rules have been developed following 
consultation with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and relevant 
stakeholders through two stakeholder events in Millom and Whitehaven where 
attendees included Town Councils, Funeral Directors, Councillors, Clergy and 
Bereavement Support agencies.  A summary of the OSC activity is provided at 
Appendix V with feedback from the two stakeholder events provided at 
Appendix IV, including the ‘You Said / We Will’ feedback used to respond to 
residents’ concerns raised at two public meetings hosted by the Mayor in August 
and November 2018.  

2.6 The Management Rules will be will be reviewed and updated regularly and an 
extract displayed on site noticeboards and Copeland Borough Councils website.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED

3.1 A refresh of the management rules for the crematorium and cemeteries is 
overdue and required to ensure that they are fit for purpose and supports the 
bereavement service in promoting and achieving best practice.  No alternative 
option is therefore proposed.

4. CONCLUSIONS

4.1 The refresh of the Crematorium and Cemetery Management Rules is necessary 
to support the Council in ensuring that our Cemeteries and Cremation facilities 
are welcoming, safe and well managed.  It sets the guidelines and rules for our 
relationship with residents and families purchasing, looking after and visiting our 
bereavement facilities.  These new Rules have been prepared with a balance of 
individual rights and the statutory need to regulate for safe and tidy cemetery 
and crematorium grounds.  

Page 21



4.2 The Communications Strategy and Action Plan (refer Appendix II) will ensure that 
the refreshed rules are clearly communicated through new signage, booklets and 
website content.  

4.3 Executive are recommended to agree and adopt the revised rules at Appendix I 
for full implementation by 1st April 2019 noting the work of the OSC in reviewing 
and refreshing the rules, the stakeholder engagement, the supporting 
implementation planning and preparation and agreeing to the use of £15,000 
from ear marked reserves to enable implementation including signage. 

 
5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.1 Legal comments are: Legal issues have been considered and addressed in the 
Rules as required. The Rules sit alongside the statutory regulations respectively 
controlling cremation and burial which are referred to in the Rules.

5.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Draft rules have been scrutinised for 
              legal issues and there are none arising.

5.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report

5.4 EIA Comments:  An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken with 
engagement from key stakeholders in line with the Council’s Equality Scheme.  
This is attached at Appendix III.  All issues from this assessment have been 
included within the refreshed rules.

5.5 Policy Framework:  The Corporate Strategy sets out our ambitions which include 
a commitment to strengthen the way we work.  This updating of a key document 
to set out our working relationship with users of our bereavement facilities has 
been undertaken under this strategic ambition.

5.6 Other consultee comments, if any:  As set out in 2.5 consultation has been active 
with a range of stakeholders from residents and users of our cemeteries to 
Funeral Directors to our Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee with 
feedback actively informing the rules refresh, the communications plan and our 
implementation activity planning.   See Appendices IV and V.

6. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

6.1 To ensure that the new rules are promoted and communicated effectively, 
Executive are being asked to approve the drawdown of £15,000 from Earmarked 
Reserves to allow for investment in new signage at the entrance points to 
cemeteries and at Distington Hall Crematorium, and in new Management Rule 

Page 22



booklets.   A detailed communications strategy and action plan is provided at 
Appendix II.  The action plan within the Communications Strategy will be 
overseen by the Bereavement Services Investment Programme Board.

6.2 Staffing for implementation is from existing resources and project management 
is resourced through Bereavement Services and within the Council’s Project 
Management Framework.  Risks are included and managed within the project 
management activity and monitored by the Bereavement Services Investment 
Programme Board.

7.      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPORT?

7.1 New management rules will be produced to clarify and improve the relationship 
between the Council and residents and users of our Bereavement facilities.  The 
Rules will be accessible and available through a range of mediums - in a new 
booklet form and promoted on new signage at the entrance to cemeteries and in 
the grounds of Distington Hall Crematorium.  

List of Appendices 

Appendix I – Management Rules 
Appendix II – Communications Strategy
Appendix III – Equalities Impact Assessment
Appendix IV – Stakeholder Engagement Feedback
Appendix V - Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Report 

List of Background Documents:

Previous rules, regulations, relevant ICCM guidance and research papers and best 
practice case studies.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

CREMATORIUM AND CEMETERIES 

MANAGEMENT RULES

Date Published 1 April 2019

Page 25

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/


2

Contents Page No

Introduction             4

 Crematorium and Cemeteries Administration Office                          5                 

 Crematorium Management Rules                                                                       6

Hours of Administration             6

Office Opening Hours  6

Book of Remembrance  7

Hours of Service                       7

Officiating Minister  7

Wesley Music System  7

Notice of Cremation and Statutory Forms  7

Fees and Charges  8

Punctuality  8       

Coffins             8

Cremation and Removal  8

Environmental Policy             9

Disposal of Cremated Remains  9

 Floral Tributes               9

Memorials            10

Unacceptable Behaviour             10

General Terms of Use                 11

Page 26



3

Cemeteries Management Rules                         12                

Hours of Interment                                                                                                      12

Notice of Interment                                                                                                    12

Coffins            13

Burials (General) 13

Certificates Required            14

Fees and Charges 14

Exclusive Right of Burial 14

Public Graves            15

Exhumation            15

Personalisation of Graves                                                                                         15

Memorials                                                                                                                    16

Unsafe and Unauthorised Memorials            17

Control of Funerals  17

After Care of Graves                         17

Conduct of Person in Cemetery                                                                                17

Wreaths and Floral Tributes  18

Shrubs and Trees on Graves  18                                                                                                         

Grounds Maintenance                                                                                  18                                                                  

General Terms of Use  19

Nether Wasdale                                                                                                            20

Contact Details for Open and Closed Cemeteries                                                  21

Page 27



4

Introduction

Copeland Borough Council welcomes all visitors to their cemeteries and crematorium.

Visitors are kindly asked to respect the peace, dignity and reverence of these facilities in 
order to promote them as a place of tranquillity for quiet reflection.

All the Council’s cemeteries and crematorium are managed and operated in accordance with 
the Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 1977 and the Cremation (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2008, as amended from time to time and such other regulations as may be 
made by the Minister of Justice.  

These Crematorium and Cemetery Management Rules (“the Management Rules”) apply to 
the following Copeland Cemeteries and Crematorium:

 Whitehaven Cemetery
 Hensingham Cemetery
 Beckermet Cemetery
 Nether Wasdale Cemetery
 Millom Cemetery
 Distington Hall Crematorium

They exclude:

All formally closed Church of England Churchyards. 

The above are subject to their own rules and therefore not covered by these Management 
Rules.

Although these Management Rules are necessary requirements for the management of our 
cemeteries and crematorium, careful consideration has been made to accommodate the 
rights and choices of individuals.  These Rules have, therefore, been prepared with a balance 
of individual rights and the statutory need to regulate for safe and tidy cemetery and 
crematorium grounds.  The Management Rules will be will be reviewed and updated 
regularly and an extract displayed on site noticeboards and Copeland Borough Council’s 
website.

The Council is empowered to alter or amend the Management Rules at any time, to 
introduce further Management Rules as they consider necessary, to wavier any of the 
Management Rules in exceptional circumstances or to impose temporary restrictions on any 
matters not specifically covered by the Management Rules.  The most up to date Cemeteries 
and Crematorium Management Rules will always be published on the Council’s web site: 
www.copeland.gov.uk

Page 28

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/


5

Crematorium and Cemeteries Administration Office

The Crematorium and Cemeteries Office is based at:

Distington Hall Crematorium
Distington 
Workington
Cumbria
CA14 4QY

01946 830561

Email: info@copeland.gov.uk

All of the Council’s cemeteries are open to the public every day of the year.  

Enquiries or requests for information about any aspect of the Council’s Bereavement Service 
should be made via the Crematorium and Cemeteries Administration Office.

Any visitor wishing to report any urgent matter relating to any of the Council’s crematorium 
or cemeteries outside of normal office hours should contact Copeland Borough Council on 
01946 598300.  Should the urgent matter relate to a crime in progress, danger to life or 
threat of violence, this should be reported to the Police at the time of the emergency on 
999.

Information about the fees and charges for Bereavement Services is available via the 
Council’s web site:  www.copeland.gov.uk 

Page 29

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk
http://www.copeland.gov.uk/


6

Crematorium Management Rules

Interpretation

In these Terms of Use

‘Medical Referee’ means a medical referee or a deputy medical referee appointed by the Home 
Secretary in pursuance of Cremation (England & Wales) Regulations 2008.

Cremation 1 means the form of application for cremation submitted by the nearest relative or an 
executor of the deceased.

Cremation 4 means the certificate of the medical attendant given by a registered medical practitioner.

Cremation 5 means the confirmatory medical certificate given by a registered medical practitioner 
who has been fully registered for not less than 5 years.

Cremation 6 means the certificate for cremation given by a Coroner.

Cremation 10 means the form of authority to cremate given by the medical referee.

All cremations shall be carried out in accordance with the above Regulations and the Code of 
Cremation Practice of the Federation of British Cremation Authorities and the Institute of Cemetery 
and Crematorium Management.

1. Hours of Admission

The public will be admitted to the Crematorium Chapel, except when it is in use.

Current opening times are: 

Monday to Friday 9am to 4.30pm

(Any changes or extensions to opening times will be promoted on the Council’s website, 
www.copeland.gov.uk
The public will be admitted to the Chapel of Remembrance during the following times:

Page 30

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/


7

365 days a year 9am to 4.15pm (electronic version of the Book of 
Remembrance is available to view at weekends and 
public holidays)

2. Office Opening Hours

The office at the crematorium is open Monday to Friday 9am to 4.30pm except Public 
Holidays.

3. Book of Remembrance

The Chapel of Remembrance will be open all year round from 9:00am - 4:15pm.

The Book of Remembrance is kept in the Chapel of Remembrance, which adjoins the main car 
park at Distington Hall and can be viewed Monday to Friday (except Bank Holidays) during 
opening hours.  The electronic version of the ‘book’ can be viewed on any day, during opening 
hours.  Fresh flowers and pot plants may be placed in the Chapel.   
  

4. Hours for Services

Services are currently held at 45 minute intervals during the following times:

Monday to Friday 9am to 12 noon
1.15pm to 3.30pm 

The period allowed for the use of the Chapel shall not exceed the time arranged for the 
service, except with the prior consent of the Council’s Bereavement Services Team, and all 
persons using the Chapel are required to leave the Chapel immediately after the conclusion 
of the service.

5. Officiating Minister

The responsibility for making the necessary arrangements for the attendance of Ministers to 
officiate at a service rests upon the Funeral Director or other person(s) arranging the service. 

6. Wesley Media Music System

Music for services is provided by Wesley Media and can be obtained by your Funeral Director.  
Wesley Media also provide images, visual tributes etc. For further information contact the 
office at the Crematorium or your Funeral Director.

7. Notice of Cremation and Statutory Forms

(a) Notice of Cremation must be given on the official form supplied and delivered to the 
Bereavement Services Team at the crematorium office NOT LATER than two working days 
prior to the day of cremation.  Please note a working day is 9 am-4:30 pm.

Page 31



8

(b) Forms 1, 4 and 5, together with the certificate of disposal issued by the Registrar of Births 
& Deaths, OR where the Coroner has been involved, a Form 6 for cremation, must be 
delivered to the Medical Referee, c/o the Bereavement Services Team, Distington Hall 
Crematorium, NOT LATER than two working days prior to the day of cremation.

(c) The Council will not be responsible if a cremation is postponed through the necessary 
forms and certificates being delivered after the stipulated time.  

    

8. Fees and charges

All fees and charges in respect of a cremation must be paid in accordance with the terms of 
the invoice. Copeland Borough Council reviews its fees and charges on an annual basis.

9. Punctuality 

If a cortege arrives late and is likely to cause inconvenience to any other funerals it may be 
put back to a later time at the discretion of the Bereavement Services Team.

10. Coffins

(a) Nobody will be accepted for cremation unless the body is enclosed in a coffin of a 
suitable material i.e. wood, felt, wicker, and wool, cardboard and must bear a nameplate 
establishing the identity of the body contained within the coffin.

(b) Coffins shall consist of easily combustible wood, cardboard, wicker, felt or wool.  
Resinous or badly seasoned wood must not be used.  A coffin must not be painted or 
varnished but may be covered with a thin cloth. External coatings to a coffin must allow 
for smokeless combustion and the use of nitro-cellulose varnish, polyurethane, 
melamine and any products containing polyvinyl chloride (PVC) or melamine must not 
be used in coffin construction or finishing’s.  Water based lacquer free from additives 
containing heavy metals may be used for coating a coffin or a suitable cloth may be used 
for covering a coffin.  The exception to the foregoing is the use of polystyrene which is 
restricted to the coffin nameplate only and it must not exceed 90 grams in weight.

(c) No metal furniture or fittings whatever shall be used on a coffin for cremation; and no 
metal of any kind shall be used in the manufacture of such coffin except as is necessary 
for its safe construction.  Hardwood plugs should be used whenever possible.  Cross pieces 
must not be attached to the bottom of the coffin but if necessary wooden strips may be 
placed lengthwise.  Where it is imperative that a body should be cremated in a metal case, 
a thin zinc lining only should be used.   The Bereavement Services Team must be informed 
where such a lining is used.

(d) The use of sawdust, cotton wool or shredded paper within the coffin must be avoided.  If 
lining of a coffin is necessary, this should be manufactured from polythene not exceeding 
75 microns in thickness.  

Page 32



9

(e) The maximum external measurements permitted for a coffin are: Length 221cm or 87 
inches, Width 104 cm or 41 inches, Height 75cm or 29.5 inches. The maximum weight 
the bier can carry is 285 kilograms or 44.8 stones.  Push capacity of the automatic 
charger is 300 kilograms or 47 stones.

11. Cremation and Removal

(a) On the day when the funeral service takes place, provided the necessary authority has 
been given by the Medical Referee, the coffin and its contents shall be cremated exactly 
as they have been received on the catafalque.  Floral tributes will be removed from the 
coffin and displayed in the flower bays at the crematorium or removed as arranged with 
the Funeral Directors.

(b) No coffin shall be removed from the Crematorium for any purpose whatsoever except on 
the Order of a Coroner, a Court, or Chief Constable.

(c) By prior arrangement with the Bereavement Services Team, two representatives of the 
deceased may see the coffin introduced into the cremator if they so desire, but no 
inspection of the actual process of cremation will be permitted.

12. Environmental Policy

In the interests of the environment, the Distington Hall Crematorium, Management and 
Employees abide by the Guiding Principles of Cremation of the Institute of Cemetery and 
Crematorium Management (ICCM).  Cremation is normally completed on the day of the 
funeral.  When environmental considerations dictate the cremation may be delayed, no 
cremation will be delayed more than 72 hours.
All metals remaining following cremation will be disposed of in the most suitable manner to 
reduce the impact on our environment.  This will include the sensitive recycling of metals to 
avoid the use of non-renewable resources and comply with existing legislation.

13. Disposal of Cremated Remains

(a) Responsibility for the instruction given on the Notice of Cremation Form regarding the 
disposal of the cremated remains shall rest upon the person signing such notice.

(b) Cremated remains shall not be removed from the Crematorium unless they are contained 
in an approved urn or container and shall only be given to the applicant for the cremation 
or a representative from the relevant Funeral Directors by the Bereavement Services 
Team on the signing of a receipt of the same.

(c) In the absence of any arrangements for the disposal of cremated remains within a month 
from the date of cremation, the Council’s Bereavement Services team will contact the 
Funeral Director, or the person who applied for the cremation, to determine how they 
wish for the ashes to be disposed of.  In the absence of any arrangements being made 
within 2 months the remains will be respectfully strewn within the crematorium grounds. 

14. Floral Tributes

(a) Wreaths, sprays and other floral tributes connected with any funeral may only be placed 
in the space reserved for that purpose or elsewhere as prescribed by the Bereavement 

Page 33



10

Services Team for a period not exceeding seven days, after which they will be disposed of 
by the Council.

(b) Floral tributes placed in the Chapel of Remembrance shall consist of cut flowers or plants 
only and must not be placed on the case containing the Book of Remembrance.  Artificial 
flowers are not permitted.  Artificial wreaths and holly wreaths are not permitted in the 
Chapel but may be placed upon the paved area adjoining the Chapel.  Vases for flowers 
will be provided as far as possible for use in the Chapel of Remembrance.

(c) Flowers or plants placed in the Chapel of Remembrance may be removed by the 
Bereavement Services Team at their discretion after seven days, or earlier where such 
flowers or plants are decayed, or where the space allocated in the Chapel for the display 
of flowers becomes limited.

(d) Relatives may bring their own vases for use in the Chapel of Remembrance but these 
must be of a none breakable type and any flower container which does not fall into such 
category will be removed forthwith.  Personal vases must be removed after use and the 
Council will not be held responsible for any loss or damage to any such vase.

(e) Fresh cut flowers can be placed in the grounds of the Crematorium, however, they will 
be removed when they are starting to decay.

(f) Wildlife do roam the grounds of the Crematorium and unfortunately they may cause 
damage to floral tributes.  

(g) The Council will not be held responsible for any loss or damage to floral tributes.

15. Memorials

(a) The Book of Remembrance, housed in the Chapel of Remembrance, shall be the only 
permanent form of memorialisation permitted in the Chapel. An application for an 
inscription to be placed in the Book of Remembrance will be sent to the person who was 
the applicant for the cremation, however, any other person can apply for an inscription 
by completing the relevant application form.

(b) Plaques are allowed on the outside of the Chapel of Remembrance and Trinity Gardens.  
The relevant application form for this should be completed and submitted to the 
Bereavement Services team.

(c) Information on memorial benches can be obtained from the Bereavement Services team.  
(d) No permanent memorial shall be placed in any part of the Crematorium grounds. 

Containers for plants, for example plant pots and metal containers, are acceptable. 
Flowers laid in the grounds of the Crematorium will be removed after one week of them 
been placed.

16. Unacceptable Behaviour 

Copeland Borough Council is committed to providing a safe workplace for all of our employees
We have a zero-tolerance approach to unacceptable behaviour.  Abusive language or 
threatening behaviour will not be tolerated.  If you conduct yourself in this manner you will be 
asked to leave the crematorium.

(a) All persons while in the Crematorium grounds or buildings shall conduct themselves in a 
quiet and orderly manner.

Page 34



11

(b) Any person who wilfully disturbs any persons assembled for the purpose of attending a 
funeral, either within the Crematorium grounds or the Crematorium buildings, or 
interferes with any service or cremation taking place will result in the Police being called. 

(c) Any person who wilfully interferes with or damages any property belonging to or 
connected with the Crematorium or is found stealing flowers or plants from the grounds 
or chapels will be referred to the Police.

(d) No person not being an officer of the Council or another person so authorised by or on 
behalf of the Council shall enter or remain in the Crematorium or grounds outside the 
permitted hours.

17. General Terms of Use

(a) All vehicles must be parked in the parking area and must not obstruct the entry or exit 
roads.

(b) Persons attending a service who are in charge of a vehicle must remove their vehicle 
immediately after the service is concluded so as not to interfere with any following 
cortege.

(c) No vehicles shall be driven at speed exceeding 10 mph.
(d) Dogs are allowed into the Chapel and the Crematorium grounds. The owner must ensure 

that the dog is on a lead and controlled at all times and will be responsible for cleaning 
up/removing any fouling. 

(e) All persons entering the crematorium shall enter at their own risk and the Council will not 
accept any liability for injuries or damage sustained for any reason whatsoever other than 
that imposed by statute.

(f) The Council will not accept responsibility for any failure in arrangements due to 
circumstances beyond their control and in the event that a body cannot be cremated 
within 72 hours to use an alternative crematorium. If this is to occur the personal 
representative or undertaker will be notified.

(g) The Council may close the Crematorium buildings or grounds or any part thereof to the 
public for such time as it is considered necessary or expedient.

(h) The Council reserves the right to amend any of the foregoing regulations and to deal with 
any circumstances or contingency not provided for in the Management Rules and to 
amend our fees as necessary.

Page 35



12

Cemeteries Management Rules 

Interpretation

In these Terms of Use 

(a) ‘the Council’ means the Copeland Borough Council.
(b) ‘the cemetery’ means any cemetery managed by the Council and shall include any chapels 

or buildings therein.
(c) ‘vault’ means any grave with internal walls constructed of brick stone or other materials.
(d) ‘memorial’ means any headstone, monument, cross, flat stone, kerbing or any other 

erection placed for the purpose of a memorial over any grave.

1. Hours of Interment

Interments may take place during the following times:  
Monday to Thursday 10am to 2.00pm
Friday 10am to 1.00pm 

Interments shall not take place on Good Friday, Christmas Day or Public Holidays except in the 
cases of emergency certified by a Coroner or registered Medical Practitioner.

2. Notice of Interment

The Council does provide a flexible approach in order to accommodate as many wishes of the 
bereaved as possible, whist still upholding cultural, ethical and legal requirements.

All notices of interment must be given on the prescribed form obtainable at Distington Hall 
Crematorium on which the particulars required must be clearly stated. The time booked for a 
burial is the time that the cortege is due to be at the graveside at the cemetery.  It is essential 
that the time of booking is adhered to in order to avoid disruption and distress to those 
attending other burials.  If the cortege arrives early or late the cortege may have to wait until 
it is convenient for it to be moved forward.  The Funeral Director or person in charge of the 
cortege must act under the direction of the Council as to when the cortege may proceed.  

All new graves and plots will be allocated sequentially within individual sections of the 
cemeteries.  However, the wishes of applicants will be considered as far as may be deemed 
practicable.  

No pre-purchase of graves is permitted at Whitehaven Cemetery, however, Exclusive Rights 
of Burial of 50 years can be purchased at the time of an interment.

Page 36



13

For interments in new grave plots, a completed Notice of Interment together with the 
Registrar’s Burial Certificate or Disposal Notice or Coroners Order must be submitted to 
Distington Hall Crematorium before the planned day of burial. 

All deceased persons brought to cemeteries for burial shall be contained in a suitable coffin, 
casket or shroud.  No coffin or shroud shall be accepted unless it bears adequate particulars 
of the identity of the deceased person. For faiths requiring interment as soon as possible 
following death specific procedures are in place.

For re-opening of an existing grave a completed Notice of Interment signed by the grave 
owner together with the Registrar’s Burial Certificate, Disposal Notice or Coroners Order must 
be submitted to Distington Hall Crematorium at least 72 hours before the planned day of 
burial. 

3. Coffins

Nobody will be accepted for a burial unless it is enclosed in a suitable wooden, cardboard, 
wicker, felt or wool coffin and must bear a nameplate establishing the identity of the body 
contained therein.

4. Burials (General)

Deceased persons, whether adults or children, must be brought into the cemeteries in 
separate coffins. The only exceptions to the rule are:

 When a mother with child dies in childbirth and the child also dies, both the mother 
and child may be buried together in the same coffin

 When twins or multiple births die in childbirth and babies may be placed in the same 
coffin

 At the discretion of the Bereavement Services Officer

Any cremated remains brought to a cemetery for burial shall be contained in a suitable     
container and bear adequate particulars of the identity of the deceased person therein.

No cremated remains brought into a cemetery can be left or strewn anywhere within the 
cemetery grounds.  For example, urns or cremated remains placed within a plant pot and left 
adjacent to a headstone are not permitted.

All graves are excavated and backfilled by trained Council Operatives or appointed contractor. 
No grave shall be excavated by any other person.  No grave shall be backfilled by any other 
person unless permission has been obtained by the Council.

The Council reserves the right to be able to close the gates of the cemetery to vehicle access 
or to cordon an area off when preparing for a burial.  The Council may need to erect without 
notice temporary hazard warnings and barriers around a grave that needs to be opened for 
burial or in the case where a memorial poses an imminent risk to public safety, including 

Page 37



14

surrounding graves.  This is to create a safe working area for the protection of visitors and 
Council employees alike.

A burial can take place with or without a religious service.  It is the responsibility of the Funeral 
Director or bereaved family to arrange the attendance of an officiant at the burial if required.      
All graves will be initially excavated to the standard depth determined by the Council.  The 
Council cannot be held responsible if, due to factors outside their control, the full number of 
3 burials per grave cannot be achieved.  It is the Councils policy to excavate graves to the 
maximum depth, however, the ability to achieve this will vary depending on ground conditions 
at each cemetery.  

All new graves and plots will be allocated sequentially within individual sections of the 
cemetery. However, the wishes of applicants will be considered as far as deemed practicable.
 

5. Certificates Required

A certificate of the Registrar of Births and Deaths or Coroners Order for Burial must be 
delivered to the Bereavement Services Officer before any interment, including that of a still 
born child, takes place.  Before the interment or strewing of cremated remains, a Certificate 
of Cremation issued by the crematorium at which the cremation took place must be produced 
to the Bereavement Services Officer except, where the cremation was carried out at the 
crematorium managed by the Council.

6. Fees and Charges

All fees and charges in respect of an interment must be paid in accordance with the terms of 
the invoice. The Council reviews its fees and charges on an annual basis.

7. Exclusive Right of Burial

(a) On the purchase of the exclusive right of burial in a grave a Grant of Exclusive Right of 
Burial deed will be issued by the Council to the person purchasing the said Right and 
particulars of the purchase will be entered in the Exclusive Right of Burial Register.

(b) If the exclusive right of burial has not been exercised within a period of 50 years from the 
date of purchase the grant shall automatically terminate.

(c) No grave for which an exclusive right of burial has been purchased shall be opened for the 
interment of a body or cremated remains, nor shall cremated remains be strewn on such 
grave without the written permission of the owner of the exclusive right of burial (or 
where the owner is deceased and being interred, a near relative or executor) being given 
on the prescribed form obtained at Distington Hall Crematorium.

(d) In the event of the death of a registered owner, the person claiming entitlement to 
ownership must obtain a formal transfer of ownership from the Council.

(e) The owner of the exclusive right of burial may assign such right to another person by 
submitting a Form of Assignment to the Council. Any transfer of ownership of a Grant of 
Exclusive Right of Burial will be subject to the production of satisfactory evidence of title 
and the approval of the Council.  Such transfer must be registered in the cemetery records 
and appropriate transfer fee paid.

Page 38



15

(f) A person to whom an exclusive right of burial is transmitted or assigned is NOT entitled to 
exercise the right until the Council has been notified of the transmission or assignment 
and details of such has been entered in the cemetery records.

(g) The Council can provide services of the burial of cremated remains in cemeteries.

8. Public Graves

The charge for an interment in a grave for which an exclusive right of burial has not been 
purchased does not include any right or privilege other that a right to make a single interment 
in a grave selected by the Bereavement Services Officer. In certain specific circumstances the 
Council will arrange for a cremation or interment to take place on a person’s behalf.  In such 
circumstances the deceased’s family will not be able to make choices about the nature of the 
funeral or the resting place of the deceased.  Public graves tend to be unmarked.  More 
information is available from our Distington Hall Crematorium office.

9. Exhumation

Exhumation is the removal of human remains from their place of interment.

Licences to Exhume - It is an offence to disturb human remains without first obtaining the 
correct lawful permissions.  There are two types of licences that may be required for 
exhumation, a Ministry of Justice Licence and/or permission in the form of a Faculty from the 
Chancellor of the Diocese.  Which licence is required depends on the location of the grave, 
i.e. whether it is located in consecrated or un-consecrated ground and where the remains are 
going to be re-interred afterwards.  Consecrated ground is the term that is given to an area 
of ground that had been dedicated to the service of God according to the Rights of the Church 
of England.

In the event that a previously used grave is required to be opened for a further burial, then 
provided the remains are not to be disturbed neither a Licence nor a Faculty will be required.

10. Personalisation of Graves

To help us carry out grass cutting in open cemeteries more efficiently and to reduce the risk 
of damage to memorabilia, the purchase of any new graves (i.e. the Exclusive Right of Burial) 
from 2019 onwards will include a condition that requires memorabilia to be limited to the 
head stone area only and not to be laid along the length of a grave.  This will apply to any 
new graves purchased following the implementation of these Management Rules.  This 
condition does not apply to graves  purchased prior the implementation of these Rules, 
however, the Council may consider sensitively asking families who currently place 
memorabilia along the length of a grave if they would be willing to place their items at the 
headstone to minimise obstacles so that the grass cutting service can continue 
uninterrupted.  Where the personalisation of graves, including the laying of memorabilia 
along the length of the a grave, obstructs grass cutting, the Council reserves the right to stop 
grass cutting on such graves.

Page 39



16

11. Memorials

(a) No memorial shall be erected or laid down on any grave if the exclusive right of burial 
has not been purchased.

(b) No memorial should be erected or any inscription put on the same until a form of 
application, obtainable at Distington Hall Crematorium, giving a description and drawing 
of the proposed memorial and / or details of the inscription has been submitted to and 
approved by, the Council. All work to existing memorials or installation of a new 
memorial must be carried out in accordance with the Council’s Memorial Mason 
Registration and Permit to Work Scheme.

(c)  Applications to erect a memorial on a grave or cremated remains plot or to carry out 
any work to an existing memorial will only be accepted from the owner of the of the 
Grant of Exclusive Right of Burial.

(d)  Applications for permission to place, alter, add an inscription, remove, replace or 
renovate any memorial on a grave or plot in any of the Council cemeteries must be 
presented to Distington Hall Crematorium on the Council’s Application for Erection of 
Memorial form.  A permit will be sent to the Memorial Mason once the work has been 
approved. 

(e) All memorials shall be erected in accordance with the National Association of 
Monumental Masons (NAMM) Recommended Code of Safe Working Practice and BS 
8415

(f) Memorials must be made of hard stone, such as granite, only.  Memorials made from 
other materials will be removed without notice.  A letter will be sent to the owner of the 
grave notifying them of the removal and will allow one month form the date of the 
letter to arrange collection.  If the memorial is not collected within one month then it 
will be disposed of.

(g) No footstones, kerbstones or other form of surrounds will be allowed on any grave.
(h) No memorial to be erected shall exceed 5 feet in height.
(i) No mounds shall be formed on any grave.
(j) Persons erecting memorials must cause proper foundations to be laid for them to the 

satisfaction of the Bereavement Services Officer and all memorials must be properly 
secured with dowels or clamps.  Where the memorial is erected upon undisturbed 
ground and where a concrete raft has not been provided by the Council the base shall be 
set on a level foundation or pre-cast concrete suitably reinforced, in one piece.  The 
foundation must be sunk into the ground so that the top surface of the foundation is 
flush with or below the adjoining level.

(k) Where the memorial consist of a headstone and base, the base shall be of the same 
material as the headstone.  All soil, rubbish and material remaining after the erection is 
completed must be removed from the cemetery forthwith by their persons erecting 
such memorial.

(l) No hewing or dressing of stones will be permitted within the cemetery except for the 
cutting of an inscription on a memorial already erected.

(m) Any damage done in connection with the erection of any memorial shall be made good 
by the person erecting the same. The Council cannot be held responsible for any 
memorial or foundation being installed on an incorrect grave or plot space.

(n) All vaults and memorials must be kept in repair by the owners and if the owner of such 
shall neglect of refuse, after one months’ notice to put or keep the same in proper 

Page 40



17

repair, of if the owner or his representative cannot be found, then in either case the 
Council shall be at liberty to repair or remove the vault/memorial at its discretion.

(o) Memorial benches and plaques are not purchased in perpetuity.  The renewal of a bench 
is 10 years and memorial plaques is 15 years.

12. Unsafe and Unauthorised Memorials

Registered owners of the Exclusive Right of Burial are responsible for keeping memorials in 
a good and safe condition.  If a memorial is deemed to be unsafe and the Council is unable 
to make contact with a registered owner, the Council may make safe or remove any 
memorial that becomes dangerous in accordance with the Local Authorities Cemeteries 
Order 1977 and Health and Safety at Work Act 1974.

Any unauthorised memorial shall be removed at the expense of the registered owner of the 
Exclusive Right of Burial, or the personal representative.  Memorialisation that has not been 
authorised will be removed into storage.  A letter will be sent to the grave owner notifying 
them of the removal and allowing the owner one month from the date of the letter to 
arrange collection.  If the memorial is not collected within one month then it may be 
disposed of.  This paragraph refers to unauthorised stone work memorialisation such as 
headstones and kerb sets and not tribute memorabilia which, when removed, will be 
disposed of without notice.

The Council reserves the right to exclude or remove from cemeteries any memorial 
installation not executed to an appropriate standard, or any memorial not formed of sound 
material, or which would, in the opinion of the Council disfigure the cemeteries or offend 
public decency.  Action against the responsible memorial mason shall be in accordance with 
the Council Memorial Mason Regulation scheme or BRAMM scheme.

13. Control of Funerals

(a) The conduct of all funerals within the cemetery shall be subject to the control of the 
Bereavement Services Team.

(b) Permission should be sought from the Council for any extraordinary funeral 
arrangements, e.g. large processions, bands of music etc.  

(c) The Council reserves the right to close a cemetery, or sections of a cemetery for a funeral 
cortege.
 

14. After Care of Graves

Graves will be checked regularly from the date of burial for a 12-month period.  This 
programme of works will ensure each grave is adequately maintained and sufficiently 
covered with turf or sown with grass seed, any headstones surrounding the new grave are 
clean and wiped, paths are clear, the grave is level etc.

15. Conduct of Persons in the Cemetery

Copeland Borough Council is committed to providing a safe workplace for all of our employees

Page 41



18

We have a zero-tolerance approach to unacceptable behaviour.  Abusive language or 
threatening behaviour will not be tolerated.  If you conduct yourself in this manner you will be 
asked to leave the cemetery.

(a) All persons must confine themselves to the roads and paths except when visiting a grave 
space.

(b) All visitors are respectfully asked to conduct themselves in a respectful and peaceful 
manner and not commit a nuisance.  The atmosphere in the cemeteries should be a place 
of calm, to allow the bereaved to have a peaceful space to reflect.

(c) Any person who wilfully disturbs any persons assembled within the cemetery for the 
purpose of attending a funeral or interferes with any burial taking place therein or 
commits any nuisance is liable to prosecution.

(d) Any person who wilfully interferes with or damages any grave, vault, memorial or any 
property belonging to, or connected with, the cemetery or is found stealing flowers or 
plants from a grave space will be prosecuted.

(e) Any person or persons found playing any game or sport within the cemetery will be 
prosecuted.

(f) No person not being an officer or servant of the Council or another person so authorised 
by or on behalf of the Council shall either or remain in the cemetery at any hour when it 
is closed to the public.

16. Wreaths and Floral Tributes

To ensure the appearance of the cemeteries is maintained to the highest standard possible 
at all times, we ask that all wreaths and floral tributes are removed when they begin to 
deteriorate.  Funeral wreaths and floral tributes are permitted to be placed on the lawn area 
above the grave for the period following the funeral.  Once the funeral tributes have faded, 
further tributes can be placed on the headstone itself or where applicable the concrete plinth 
only.  Christmas Wreaths and flowers will be removed from the Cemeteries from the 1st week 
in February.

17. Shrubs and Trees on Graves

Shrubs or trees shall not be planted on any grave without the permission of the Bereavement 
Services Team nor shall existing shrubs or trees be removed without permission.

The Council reserves the right to remove or prune any shrub or tree deemed necessary.

The Council may close the cemetery grounds or any part thereof to the public for such time 
as is considered necessary or expedient.

18. Grounds Maintenance

Grounds maintenance operations such as grass cutting, leaf and litter clearing, upkeep of 
trees, shrubs, flower beds, hedges and memorial borders will be carried out by the Council, 
at a frequency determined by the Council and by weather conditions.  

Page 42



19

The Council shall endeavour to reinstate all newly excavated graves within 12 months of an 
interment, subject to the ground conditions and the season of the year being appropriate for 
these works to be undertaken.  The period is necessary to allow the natural subsidence of the 
earth used to fill the grave.  The reinstatement shall include the levelling and seeding of the 
grave.

No mound will be permitted over any new grave other than to allow for settlement.

Funeral wreaths will generally be disposed of within 14 days after interment, however, they 
may be left longer depending on how well the flowers have lasted.

The Council reserves the right to disconnect the water supply during the winter months to 
avoid freezing and ultimate bursting of the pipes, or when the tap(s) are defective or the 
water supply provided is being abused.

The Council reserves the right to change the appearance of the cemetery and therefore the 
demeanours of the surround adjacent to a specific grave may change as may any amenity or 
feature adjacent to a grave.

Please be aware that adjacent graves may need to be re-opened, which may temporarily 
restrict access to your grave.  This is unavoidable, but we aim to restrict this to the shortest 
time possible.   The Council may need to gain access without notice over graves next to those 
that need to be opened for burial.  This many involve the passage of mechanical excavator 
and lightweight load carrying vehicle.  This is to allow the Council to excavate and return soil 
in a safe and efficient manner.  The Council will return all graves to their previous lawn 
condition.

Wildlife do roam the grounds of the cemeteries and unfortunately they may cause damage 
to floral tributes and impact on ground conditions.  

The Council will not be held responsible for any loss or damage to floral tributes.

19.  General Terms of Use 

(a) No vehicle will be allowed in the cemetery other than those connected with a funeral 
without permission of the Council and must not be driven at speed exceeding 5 m.p.h.

(b) Dogs are permitted in Council cemeteries. All dogs must be kept under strict control and 
on a lead at all times.  If any fouling does occur, then it is the responsibility of the person 
in charge of the dog to clean up and dispose of the waste responsibly.

(c) All persons entering the cemeteries shall enter at their own risk and the Council will not 
accept any liability for injuries or damage sustained for any reason whatsoever.

(d) The Council will not accept responsibility for any failure in arrangements due to 
circumstances beyond their control.

(e) The Council may close any part of a cemetery to the public for such time as it is 
considered necessary or expedient.

Page 43



20

(f) The Council reserves the right to amend any of the Management Rules and to deal with 
any circumstances or contingency not provided for in the Management Rules and to 
amend our fees as necessary.

20. Nether Wasdale 
Land to extend this Cemetery is in the process of being acquired by Copeland Borough 
Council. The terms of the acquisition shall set out who can be interred in the cemetery. This 
section shall be updated when the acquisition has been completed.

Page 44



21

21. Contact Details for Open and Closed Cemeteries   

                                              
Cemeteries/Churchyards 
Maintained
Place Churchyard Open / 

Closed
Contact Name Contact Tel No Notes

Whitehaven St Bees Road O Bereavement 
Services 

01946830561

Whitehaven Hensingham O Bereavement 
Services 

01946830561

Thornhill Beckermet O Bereavement 
Services 

01946830561

Wasdale NetherWasdale O Bereavement 
Services 

01946830561

Millom St George's 
Cemetery extension

O Bereavement 
Services 

01946830561

Whitehaven Trinity Gardens C Parks and Open 
Spaces 

01946593031 Conveyed to 
the Council 
for use as 
open space

Whitehaven St James Churchyard C James Nicholson 01946590803
Whitehaven Kirk Mission C Fergus Pearson 01946692822
Hensingham Square Closed Churchyard C 01946692822
Lowca Moresby 

Churchyard
C Rev.Paul Kerry 0194666168

Cleator Moor St John's Churchyard 
(& War Memorial)

C Harold Blair 01946812143

Cleator St Leonard's 
Churchyard

C Carol Martin 01946811908

Egremont St Mary & St 
Michael's Church 
grounds

C Rev. Tim Taylor 01946822255

Beckermet St John's Church C Copeland 
Borough Council 

01946830561

Irton St Paul's Churchyard C Rev. Cannon Gill 
Hart

01946724724

Muncaster St Michael's 
Churchyard

C Cath Tebb 01229717457

Millom St George's Church 
& old cemetery

C Geoff Edmondson 01229772084

Hallthwaites St Anne's Church old 
graveyard

C Rev. Clive Shaw 01229772889

Page 45



22
Page 46



Communications 
Strategy 

Changes to Bereavement Services Management Rules

Andrew Clarke

Communication and Engagement Manager

August 2018

Page 47



1. Overview

Copeland Borough Council is refreshing its Management Rules for its Bereavement Services. They 
have not been updated since 1979.

A key change is the formalising of procedures at Copeland Council’s five cemeteries: Whitehaven, 
Hensingham, Nether Wasdale, Beckermet and Millom. These include enforcing the restrictions on 
memorabilia places on graves. 

2. Key Stakeholders

 Copeland Council: Mayor and members (including Portfolio Holder)
 Copeland Council: CLT
 Copeland Council: Cemeteries staff and Customer Services
 Funeral directors
 Church representatives
 Healthcare and hospice providers
 Age UK
 Cruse bereavement service
 Town/parish councils
 Media
 Public

Po
w

er

Interest

 Mayor and members
 (including Portfolio Holder)

 CLT

 Cemeteries staff

 Customer services

 Funeral directors

 Church representatives

 Healthcare and hospice providers
 Age UK

 Cruse bereavement service

 Town & Parish Councils

 Media

 Public

Keep satisfied Manage closely

Monitor Keep informed

Page 48



3. Key messages 

 Regulations have not been updated in almost 40 years and are not fit for purpose; 
they need to be updated to reflect current usage.

 Although many of the rules are not changing, they have never been enforced. 
 Memorabilia: for all new graves, memorials must be kept at the headstone rather 

than on the length of the grave
-      By enforcing this rule those who take out new plots – and requesting it of those 
who have pre-existing plots - it allows us to better manage our cemeteries.
- By keeping memorabilia close to the gravestone as requested, it means that 

they are not at risk of being damaged by cutting equipment
- By keeping memorabilia close to the gravestone as requested, it means that 

grass-cutting can take place more efficiently
- By abiding by the memorabilia restrictions/request, they are being respectful of 

neighbouring graves and their families
- By everyone abiding by the regulations, it ensures that the graves will be 

maintained to a uniform standard once there is no family left to tend it. 
 Cars:

- No vehicle is allowed in the cemetery other than those connected with a 
funeral, without permission of the council. Permission will be allowed in cases of 
mobility issues.

- Paths are not suitable to accommodate vehicles and allowing all cars risks 
damage to graves

 Dogs:
- Dogs will be permitted in crematorium. They are considered part of the family.

4. Risks and mitigation

 Anger from families who take new plots and have to remove memorabilia and 
flowers that contravene regulations. Mitigation: The new regulations will be made 
clear to all those at the point of taking a new plot. 

 Families who tend plots that have been taken before the new regulations are being 
introduced may not be willing to move their memorabilia. Mitigation: We will speak 
to them on an individual basis, explaining the benefits of the whole cemetery being 
uniform. We will publicise the benefits of abiding by the memorabilia request 
(improved grass-cutting etc) throughout the campaign.

 How is the permitted access managed? Mitigation: Improved signage and reserve 
the right to close off areas for operations/funeral needs.

5. Identity/Tools/Channels

Communications will be generated by the Communications Team in conjunction with the 
Parks and Open Spaces Manager, the Bereavement Services Development Manager and 
project team.  

Page 49



Website

 The website will be updated with the new regulations and a FAQs section.

Social Media

 Social media posts will be generated to introduce the new measures and answer 
FAQs

Print 

 Public notice in the local press
 A new handbook will be printed and issued to current and future families of those 

buried in Copeland cemeteries 

Press
 A reactive press release was produced in response to details of the regulations being 

prematurely released.
 A press release will be issued in advance of the new measures being 

agreed/introduced. This will double-up as an announcement with Whitehaven Town 
Council on their funding for improvements at Whitehaven and Hensingham 
Cemeteries.

 A further press/photo opportunity will be held when the new regulations are 
introduced and new signage unveiled.

Internal & External Newsletters

 The new regulations will be reported in monthly staff newsletter (Copeland Chat), 
residents’ newsletter (Copeland Matters) and weekly members’ newsletter 
(Members Update). 

Direct contact

 Customer service team will be fully briefed to they are in a position to answer any 
queries.

 A drop-in session/meeting will be held to outline plans to key stakeholders (funeral 
directors; church community) both in the north and south of the borough

 A members’ briefing to outline the plans
 For residents, an hour on site at each of the cemeteries

Signage

 New signage outlining the regulations and promoting key messages to be placed at 
the entrance to the cemeteries.

6. Timeline
 September 6 – proposals outlined to Informal Executive
 w/c September 10 - stakeholder events in north and south of the borough
 November 22 – final Overview and Scrutiny Task & Finish sign-off

Page 50



 December 6 – final OSC sign-off
 January 15 -  final Executive sign-off
 Following final sign-off, the rules will be communicated with stakeholders and 

members of the public ahead of them being implemented around March 2019.
 The project team will treat the installation of the new signage as a milestone to 

formally announce the new rules (with a media opportunity) and begin to enforce 
them

7. Budget – TBC

Cost
Print
Social Media Advertising
Print Advertising
Events

8. Actions

Date Responsible Subject Tool/channel Sign off
 11/12/18 SP Begin procurement process 

for signage
 Sign All

 11/12/18 SP/JH/AC Draft key messages for 
signage  

 Sign All

After 
Executive

SP/JH Confirm final draft of 
regulations to be handed to 
those who take a plot

Document All

11/12/18 AC Produce A5 booklet of key 
messages and FAQs to be 
handed to those who take a 
plot

Booklet All

11/12/18 AC Make changes to website to 
reflect new regulations and 
include booklet and FAQs 
(will go live once 
introduced)

Website All

TBC AC Arrange media opportunity 
once new signage is 
installed/new rules 
introduced

Media All

TBC AC Plan social media messages 
to highlight new regulations

Social media All

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Copeland Borough Council Initial Equality Impact Assessment-Valid from 11 November 2011

Directorate/Service Area Customer and Community 
Services

Persons undertaking the assessment 
Person responsible for implementation of 
the policy/ function/ service or proposal

Sue Pringle

Name of policy/ function/ 
service or proposal to be 
assessed

Management Rules Date of assessment 1.11.18 New or Change 
to existing 
circumstances

New

Positive Equality Duties

This initial EIA will also help you identify whether there are opportunities for promoting equality. Even if there are no adverse impacts, this part of the 
process is essential as it will ensure we meet our equality duties. These equality duties are set out in a number of pieces of legislation and are 
summarised below for reference:

The need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, promote equality of opportunity and foster good relations between and for different groups based 
on:                                                

 Sex
 Gender reassignment (i.e. transgender individuals)
 Age 
 Disability (mental and physical)
 Sexual orientation (heterosexuality, homosexuality, etc)
 Religion and belief (including no belief)
 Race
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Marriage and Civil Partnership

P
age 53

http://homeoffice.gov.uk/equalities/equality-act


2

1. Briefly describe the aims, objective or  
purpose of the policy/service/ function or 
proposal being assessed. If this EIA is 
assessing the impact of a proposed change 
please describe the proposed change.

Updating the rules will ensure which govern our Crematorium and Cemeteries are fit for purpose, 
which haven’t been updated since 1979.  The rules need to reflect modern day living, expectations 
and service standards.

 A consistent standard is set across all 5 cemeteries

 Clear signage is in all of our cemeteries, clearly communicating relevant extracts from the 
rules and the facility to display notices of current events 

 When Exclusive Rights of Burial Deed is issued up to date extracts of the rules are issued 
with the deeds, clearly communicating the rules

 Reduce complaints and increase compliments

 Increase our integrity within our community

 Provide a more efficient grass cutting service, which is hampered by previous rules not 
being updated and enforced

 Ensure and that health and safety is prevalent within the  crematorium, ground of 
Distington Hall and our cemeteries

2. What are the required outcomes from this 
policy/service/function or proposal? 

 That all our cemeteries and crematorium are safe and pleasant with good access, clear 
terms of use and good standards of maintenance

 The rules are clearly communicated through a robust framework involving bereavement 
services team, visitors to our crematorium and cemeteries 

3. Who will be affected by this  Staff in Parks and Open Spaces and Bereavement Services, Visitors, Funeral Directors, 

P
age 54



3

policy/service/function or proposal? Monumental Masons

4. How do these outcomes align with the 
Councils priorities? (Council Plan)

 The community of Copeland and Allerdale primarily

5. Are there any wider impacts associated 
with the policy/service/function or 
proposal that should be considered, e.g. 
the proposed impact on the effectiveness 
of other service areas of the Council or any 
assistance to implement that would be 
required.

 There are legal requirements and obligations that local authorises must be observed and 
adhered to in order to run a cemetery and crematorium – Local Government Act 1972 and 
the Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977

 Parks and Open Spaces maintaining our cemeteries in accordance with the Management 
Rules to make them a peaceful and respectful place to visit

 Communication Team creating a robust communication plan to enable a successful 
implementation of the updated rules

 Bereavement Services who will be responsible in enforcing the rules which will ensure that 
crematorium and cemeteries are a safe and pleasant place to visit 

6. What factors/risks could affect the 
intended outcome.

 The community and /or specific communities of interest of Copeland not embracing the 
new rules

 Increase in complaints raised 

7. Who are the main stakeholders in relation 
to this policy/service/function or proposal 
(e.g. partners, community groups etc.)?

 Funeral Directors
 Clergy/Celebrants
 Bereaved residents and families / friends 
 Monumental Mason
 Disability Forum
 Awaz

8. What quantitative data have you used for 
this assessment (Statistics, demographics, 

Below statistics and demographics taken from 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics:

P
age 55



4

indicators, and partner data)? Please note 
that data should relate to each equality 
group (race, disability, etc.). 

All evidence to be kept and recorded

Gender – The population of Copeland is 70,603, made up of 50.2% male to 49.8% female.  It is not 
felt that Advertising and Sponsorship will have an adverse impact on this equality group providing 
the content is appropriate.

Gender Reassignment – There is no reliable information on the number of gender reassigned 
people within Copeland.  Regardless of this, it is not felt that Advertising and Sponsorship will have 
a negative impact on this equality group providing the content is appropriate.

Age -  Cumbria has an older population profile that England & Wales and this population is ‘ageing’ 
at a faster rate than the population nationally.  The age profile is broken down as follows: 0-15 
years – 17%, 16-64 years – 64.1%, 65+ years – 18.9%.  It is not felt that Advertising and Sponsorship 
will have a negative impact on this equality group providing the content is appropriate.

Disability – 10.7% of people in Copeland declared themselves as having day-to-day activities 
limited a lot by a limiting health problem or disability compared to a national average of 9.7%.  It is 
not felt that Advertising and Sponsorship will have a negative impact on those with disability 
providing the content is appropriate.

Sexual orientation – No accurate data exists of the LGB community in Copeland, but nationally the 
population is estimated at between 5% – 7%.  This would mean that around 2,750 people aged 
over 16 in Copeland are LGB.  It is not felt Advertising and Sponsorship will have a negative impact 
on this equality group providing the content is appropriate. 

Religion or belief – Copeland’s breakdown in relation to religion was as follows: Christian – 78.9%, 
Buddhist – 0.21%, Hindu – 0.11%, Jewish – 0.02, Muslim – 0.32%, Sikh – 0.01, Other – 0.21, No 
religion – 14.4%, Religion not stated – 5.9%.  It is not felt Advertising and Sponsorship will have a 
negative impact on this equality group providing the content is appropriate.

Race – Copeland’s breakdown in relation to ethnic group was as follows: White British – 97.3%, 
White Other – 1.2%, Mixed ethnic group - 0.5%, Asian – 0.9%, Black/African/Caribbean – 0.1%, 
Other 0.1%.  It is not felt that Advertising and Sponsorship will have a negative impact on this 

P
age 56



5

equality group providing the content is appropriate.

Marriage and civil partnership – Of those aged over 16 in Copeland the breakdown in relation to 
marital status is as follows: Single – 29.7%, Married – 51.0%, Same sex civil partnership – 0.2%, 
Separated – 1.9%, Divorced – 9.2%, Widowed – 8.0%.  It is not felt that Advertising and Sponsorship 
will have a negative impact on this equality group providing the content is appropriate. 
  
Below statistics taken from NHS Copeland Health & Well Being Profile 2012

Pregnancy and maternity – There were 771 births in Copeland in 2011 which is below the national 
average.  It is not felt that Advertising and Sponsorship will have a negative impact on this equality 
group providing the content is appropriate.

9. What qualitative data have you used for 
this assessment (Consultation, complaints 
and comments)? Please note that data 
should relate to each equality group (race, 
disability, etc.). 

All evidence to be kept and recorded

 Researched other authorities Management Rules
 Visited other Crematoriums and Cemeteries
 Monitored complaints and comments through Pentana
 Held stakeholder events across the borough 
 Had one to one meetings with Funeral Directors
 Involvement of Overview and Scrutiny throughout the whole process
 Held 2 consultation events 

P
age 57



6

Conclusion

Are there concerns that the policy/procedure/function or proposal could have specific negative impact on people from the following groups?

Will the implementation of this 
policy/procedure/function or 
proposal have any negative 
impact on people from any of 
these equality groups?

 If yes, can the policy/procedure/ 
function or proposal be amended 
or altered to help mitigate the 
negative impact?

If yes, have you considered any 
alternative courses of action? 
Within the initial EIA, this should 
relate to immediate alternatives.

Group

Y N Y N Y N
Gender N
Gender reassignment N
Age N
Disability N
Sexual Orientation N
Religion or Belief (inc non-belief) N
Race N
Pregnancy and maternity N
Marriage and civil partnership N

If you have recorded a possible 
alternative course of action, please 
provide a short description. If you 
have indicated a mitigating action, 
please provide a short description.

P
age 58



7

Conclusion

Could the implementation of this policy/service/function or proposal disproportionally affect any particular neighbourhoods i.e. 
Localities/Parishes?

If yes, please describe. 

Indicate what alternatives have been 
considered or mitigating actions are 
planned.

Will the implementation of this policy/procedure/ function or proposal have any positive impact on people from any of these equality groups?

Yes No Please describe
Gender N
Gender reassignment N
Age N
Disability Y N
Sexual orientation N
Religion or Belief (inc non-belief) N
Race N
Pregnancy and maternity N
Marriage and civil partnership N

 Consultation with CCC on the possibility of marked disability bays on 
Meadow Road.
Meeting held with Copeland Disability Forum and Awaz.
Regular presence of a member of Parks and Open Spaces/Bereavement 
Services in the cemeteries to advise/explain the Management Rules.
Procedure in place to ensure that access is allowed into the cemetery to 
those who are entitled i.e. highest rate of DLA or enhanced PIP.  All 
applications to be carried out face to face.

P
age 59



8

Are you satisfied the implementation 
of this policy/service/function or 
proposal could not be challenged for 
unlawful discrimination or failure to 
meet statutory equality duties.

No Yes
Date Full EIA CompletedShould the policy etc. proceed to a full 

impact assessment? (if at this stage of 
the process there is evidence of 
adverse impact on any equality groups 
then you must answer yes).

N
Full EIA not required feedback from consultation has been included in the 
new rules development

Completing Officer (Name) Susan Pringle  Bereavement Services Development Manager

Completing Officer (Signature)

Authorising Manager (Name) Julie Betteridge  Executive Director Operations

Authorising Manager (Signature)

P
age 60



Cremation and Cemetery Management Rules Stakeholder Engagement

As part of the consultation process, two stakeholder engagement sessions were held by the 
project team. Both were held on September 13; one in Millom and one in Whitehaven.

Invitations were extended to funeral directors, clergy, bereavement support agencies and 
town/parish councils. The sessions took the form of an informal conversion/question and 
answer session on the proposed document, and those who attended were asked to 
complete a questionnaire. The questionnaire was also circulated to those who had been 
invited to the sessions but could not attend.

The feedback the project team received on the proposed Cremation and Cemetery 
Management Rules can be summarised as follows:

- There was some concern about relatives who have tended a grave for many years 
being asked to change their routine/traditions

- It was suggested that the project team should emphasise the positives that the 
changes will bring to the overall appearance of the cemeteries in terms of 
consistency and improved grass-cutting, highlighting what people can do and not 
what they cannot, and give visual examples of good and bad practice

- It was suggested that the project team should work with stonemasons who can 
advise families of best practice regarding memorabilia. Additionally, the council and 
the stonemasons should advise that grave adornments should be biodegradable.  

- It was suggested that a summary of the rules should be placed on a noticeboard at 
the entrance to the cemeteries

- Questions were asked about cars in cemeteries. It was suggested that the project 
team should introduce a pedestrian gate to manage traffic.

There were also comments on a number of wider Bereavement Services issues that have 
been fed back to the team.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Task and Finish Group

REPORT FROM: Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules Task and 
Finish Group

LEAD MEMEBER: Cllr Raymond Gill
REPORT AUTHOR: James Young, Scrutiny Officer

Why has this report come to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee? 
The Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules Task and Finish Group have 
finished their work and present their recommendations for the Committee to consider.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee are recommended to:

(a) Note the Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules; and 
(b) Recommend that the Executive accept and implement the new Crematorium 

and Cemeteries Management Rules.

1.0 OVERVIEW

1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee were asked by the Executive Director to 
set up a task and finish group to have member input into the proposed new 
Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules.

1.2 The Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules have not been updated 
since 1979. The group met four times to overview the various drafts of the new 
rules and regulations that were drafted by the Bereavement Services 
Development Manager and the Parks & Open Spaces Manager. 

1.3 The task and finish group gave feedback on several issues within the rules and 
regulations. The group were particularly interested in the communication 
strategy that will be needed to accompany the new rules and regulations to 
ensure public buy in.

1.4 The group are satisfied that the Crematorium and Cemeteries Management 
Rules will greatly improve the crematorium and cemeteries in Copeland and 
thank the Bereavement Services Development Manager and the Parks & Open 
Spaces Manager for all their work.

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



EXE120219

1

Corporate Strategy 2016-2020 Performance Report for Quarter Three of 2018-19
 (October, November, December)

EXECUTIVE MEMBER:  Cllr David Moore

LEAD OFFICER: Joanne McLeod, Head of Corporate Resource

REPORT AUTHOR: Gillian Butterworth, Performance and Risk Management 
Officer

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
The report provides the Executive with details of progress and performance against the 
Corporate Strategy 2016-2020 for Quarter Three of 2018-19.

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The Executive is recommended to;

a) Note progress and performance against the Corporate Strategy 2016-20 and the actions taken to 
improve compliance with targets. 

1.        INTRODUCTION
1.1 The Council use a Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan and Key Performance Indicators 

to periodically monitor progress and performance against the Corporate Strategy 
2016-2020.  

1.2 This cover report provides a brief outline of the progress made against the Corporate 
Strategy Delivery Plan and the performance of Key Performance Indicators in quarter 
three of 2018-19.

Full details, analysis and actions taken to improve compliance are documented in the 
appendices to this report; 

 Appendix A – Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan for Q3 of 18-19
 Appendix B - Key Performance Indicator for Q3 of 18-19

2. BACKGROUND 
2.1 For 2018-19 The Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan lists twenty nine Key Deliverables 

that the Council is working to achieve in order to realise the ambitions and outcomes 
of the overarching Corporate Strategy 2016-20.  

2.2 The Key Deliverables are grouped and reported under the four ambitions of the 
Corporate Strategy 2016-20 which are;
 Town Centre Regeneration
 Commercialisation
 Employment, Skills and Social Wellbeing

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



EXE120219

2

 Strengthen our operations

2.4 Each Key Deliverable is broken down into smaller S.M.A.R.T sub-actions that are to 
be completed throughout the year, these are known as ‘Milestones’ and it is the 
achievement or progress of these Milestones that is and monitored and reported 
quarterly.

2.5 Additionally, during 2018-19 the Council is also monitoring a suite of twenty-five Key 
Performance Indicators against the Corporate Strategy. 

3.       QUARTER THREE SUMMARY OF PROGRESS AND PERFORMANCE

3.1 For Quarter three there were a combined 18 Milestones to be completed against the 
Key Deliverables, of which 12 (67%) were completed and 6 were not. (33%)

Full details, analysis and remedial actions are listed in Appendix A.

3.2 Town Centre Regeneration
To realise our ambition of Town Centre Regeneration, the Council is working to 
achieve 10 Key Deliverables in 2018/19.

3.3 During Quarter three, there were 5 Milestones to be completed against these Key 
Deliverables, of which 3 were achieved and 2 were not.

The Milestones that were not achieved relate to:

 Key Deliverable 6_ The Local Plan.  
During Q3, consultation on the preferred options for the local plan was 
expected to be completed.  However, the production of the Local Plan has 
been slowed due to staff resource and recruitment issues.  As such the 
Preferred Options are now expected to be ready for consultation later in Q2 
2019-20.  Subsequently, this is likely to effect the production of the Pre-
Submission Draft of the Local Plan.

 Key Deliverable 10_ Set up of a DMO (Destination Management Organisation) 
led by UCLan.                                                                                                                 
A Destination Management arrangement has already been established in Q1 
to oversee the placement students on Tourism in both Copeland and 
Allerdale.  A student has been in place since September.  A Tourist 
Information Point (TIP) was expected to be operational Q3, however this is 
now expected to be operational by Q4.

Page 66



EXE120219

3

3.4 Commercialisation

Four Key Deliverables have been agreed in relation to our ambition of 
Commercialisation.  In Quarter three there were 3 Milestones to be competed 
against these Key Deliverables, of which 1 was achieved and 2 were not.

The Milestones that were not achieved relate to:

 Key Deliverable 11_ The Beacon Museum 5-year business plan was expected 
to be agreed by Executive and Full Council during Q3, the draft business plan 
is still under development and presentation is now expected in Q4.

 Key Deliverable 13_ Trade Waste – Project plan and PID for the recycling of 
bulky Commercial Waste was scheduled for Q3. However, while there have 
been initial discussions involving the commercial team, due to a lack of 
capacity within the Waste team, this project has not been progressed. Some 
additional capacity will be available on Q4 with the appointment of the new 
Deputy Community Services Manager.

3.5 Employment Skills and Social Wellbeing

 To realise our ambitions relating to Employment Skills and Social Wellbeing, the 
Council is working to achieve nine Key Deliverables in 2018/19.  
In Quarter three there were 5 Milestones to be competed against these Key 
Deliverables, of which all 5 were completed. 

3.6 Strengthened the way we Operate

Six Key Deliverables have been agreed in relation to our ambition to Strengthen our 
Operations.  In Quarter three there were 5 Milestones to be completed against these 
Key Deliverables, of which 3 were achieved and 2 were not.

The Milestones that were not achieved relate to:

 Key Deliverable 24_Cyber Security- The update and delivery against the IT 
improvement plan’ is ongoing and will, but will now be completed in Q4 
owing to the recruitment of a new IT manager who took up post in 
December.  

 Key Deliverable 27_ GIS uplift.  In Q3 it was expected that priority layers if GIS 
would be pushed up to ARC online GIS system and made available for staff.  
The Executive are advised that significant progress on the GIS Migration 
project has been made, however the task has not been completed during Q3 

Page 67



EXE120219

4

owing to prioritisation of Idox project.  There is some work remaining and 
issues to be resolved in relation to access to an Aerial photograph for UK web 
mapping and tasks to be completed to ensure Idox migration to ensure that 
GIS layers are made available to and from Idox.
Expectation is that GIS will be ready for staff by the end of Q4

3.7 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

3.8 As shown in Table 1, at the end of Quarter Three,
 13 KPIs had met their targets set for the quarter – 52% (green)
 Of the 13 KPIs that are on target at the end of Q3, 11 of these have consistently 

met the target in each quarter of the year to date.
 12 KPIs did not meet the target set for the end of the quarter – 48% (red)

Full details, analysis and remedial actions to bring KPIs back on target are listed in 
Appendix B

Table 1

Key Performance Indicator Status at 
end of Q3

KPI 1.1  Percentage of Council Tax collected

KPI 1.2  Number empty homes <6months brought back into use

KPI 3.1  Percentage of Non-domestic Rates Collected

KPI 3.4 Number of apprenticeships within the Council each year

KPI 3.5 a_ Speed of processing - new HB claims

KPI 3.5 b_ Speed of processing - new CTR claims

KPI 3.8 Homeless relief cases processed within time frame

KPI 3.9 Domestic Abuse Project

KPI 4.1 Percentage of complaints resolved at stage one

KPI 4.4b Percentage CTAX collected using DDeb payment method

KPI 5.1 Percentage of 'major' planning applications determined within 13 weeks

KPI 5.2 Percentage of planning 'minor' planning applications determined within 8 weeks

KPI 5.3 Percentage of 'other' applications determined within 8 weeks

KPI 1.3  Number of new homes approved

KPI 1.4  Number of new homes built

KPI 1.5 Number of AFFORDABLE homes BUILT

Page 68



EXE120219

5

Key Performance Indicator Status at 
end of Q3

KPI 1.6  Number of new executive homes built

KPI 1.7 External funding for Economic Development Secured

KPI 3.6 a_ Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for HB claims

KPI 3.6 b_ Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for CTR claims

KPI 2.1 Additional income generated through Commercial activity

KPI 4.2 Percentage of Freedom of information requests resolved within timescale

KPI 4.3 a_ Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting

KPI 4.3 b_ Percentage reduction in residual household waste

KPI 4.4a Percentage of NDR collected using DDeb payment method

3.9 When reviewing the KPIs that have not met their target for quarter three, the 
Executive are advised of the following;

 KPI’s 1.3, 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6 all relate to new housing within Copeland, however 
the targets for these KPIs are set at national level.

 KPI 1.7_External funding secured for economic development in Copeland.  
The target for this KPI was set at £500,000.00 and in the last financial year we 
exceeded this amount, however the achievement of this target is reliant on 
which funding pots are open to us and how long the application round takes 
to complete.  To date there has been £265,000.00 secured against this target.

 KPI 2.1 Measures additional net income across five named cost centres. This 
KPI will be reported at the end of Q4.

 KPI 3.6a and 3.6b measures the number of days it takes us to process a 
change of circumstances to a Housing benefit and Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS) claim.                                                                                               
The target for these KPIs is 10 working days.  During Q3 2018-19 it took us, on 
average 11.98 and 11.36 days respectively to process changes of 
circumstance to claims.  Whilst just outside of the target (10 days) Executive 
are asked to note significant improvement in the performance against this 
KPI over the last year.  In Q3 of 2017/18, as a result of the impact of the 
cyber-attack, the average number of days that it took to process a change of 
circumstances was 26.65 days.  This equates to a reduction of around 15 
days.  

Page 69



EXE120219

6

 KPI 4.2_FOI requests resolved within timescale.  During Q3, 156 (84%) of the 
182 new requests were resolved within the 20-day timeframe.  This KPI was 
not met target partly due to the Information Management Officers dual role 
in December, and an amendment to the variances set against the KPI.

 KPI 4.3 a_ Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting.  Due to the way in which the figures are collected and audited, 
39% figure for the end of Q3 is only until the end of November. includes only 
to end November. This will be updated when audited data is available.          
The figure also reflects the end of the seasonal garden waste service and a 
slight reduction in kerbside tonnages, which have recovered in December and 
early January. The target for the year end remains achievable.

 KPI 4.3 b_ Percentage reduction in residual household waste for Q3 was 5.4% 
against a target of 5%.  However, the due to the way in which household 
waste figures are collected and audited, 4.5 % is only until the end of 
November. This will be updated when audited data is available. 

 KPI 4.4a_Percentage of NDR collected using DDeb payment method.  This KPI 
originally measured the combined percentage of C. Tax and NDR collected by 
DDeb payment method.  The KPI was split in Q2 to show C. Tax and NDR 
DDeb collection rates separately.  While the target for both KPI’s remains at 
60%, it should be noted that many businesses prefer to pay business rates by 
CHAPS or BACS rather than direct debit.  

4 CONCLUSIONS

4.1 At the end of Quarter three, 23 out of 29 Key Deliverables are on track.  Explanations 
have been given for the Milestones that were not completed against the remaining 6 
Key deliverables.  It is expected that outstanding Milestones from Q3 will be 
progressed or completed during Q4.

4.2 52% of our KPIs were on target at the end of Quarter three.  Explanations and details 
of actions taken to improve other KPI performance is included within the report and 
appendices.

5.          STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 
5.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:  

This report provides a progress update to the Executive on key projects and programmes 
arising from the Corporate Strategy.  Any legal issues arising from any individual key 
deliverables will be dealt with as appropriate. 

Page 70



EXE120219

7

5.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: 
The financial delivery of the 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy and Plan is shown in the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and 2018/19 Budget and Capital Plan. 

5.3 EIA Comments: 
The Corporate Strategy and Service Plans against which performance is measured have 
undergone Equality Impact Assessments.  Individual projects and partnership delivery 
against the Corporate Delivery Plan are subject to provide EIAs.

How will the proposals be project managed and how are the risks going to be managed? 
Project and risk management has been on going throughout the year by managers covering 
all objectives within the plan. Corporate Leadership Team review progress on a regular basis 
and review the Strategic Risk Register monthly.  

 6.  APPENDICIES
APPENDIX A - Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan for Q3 of 2018/19
APPENDIX B - Key Performance Indicator for Q3 of 2018/19

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



1

  Town Centre Regeneration

Key Deliverable 01 _ Agreed corporate vision on the development of Copeland’s tour main towns

Action Description
Quarter Milestone Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1 Q1 Three towns (Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom) 
to create final phase 1 documents

Work programme agreed with Arup and documents currently 
being updated

Q2 Q2 Three towns (Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom) 
to Executive for approval

Papers went to August Executive meeting

To complete the partnership master-planning 
activity for the four towns started in 2017/18 
and move to implementation of early 
priorities including Whitehaven North Shore 
development and an Innovation Centre 
approach and collaborative schemes in other 
towns to improve service centres and offer 
hub arrangements.

Q3 Q3 Communications and socialising of plans with 
relevant communities including Whitehaven Town 
Council engagement.

Three towns (Millom, Egremont, Cleator Moor) complete. 

Corporate decision to hold Whitehaven Masterplan as a 
framework while key issues progress (including Sellafield 
accommodation and movement strategies, North Shore, 
Whitehaven Relief road, etc.) and revisit in 2019/20.

Key Deliverable 02 _ Implement the public realm element of CPoP

Action Description
Quarter Milestone Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1 Q1 Project brief out to tender and consultant appointed On track, tender out and consultant appointed

Q2 Q2 Consultation complete and outline design in place Consultation extended at request of Full Council.  Will complete 
in October

Q4 Q3 Detailed design agreed and procurement of 
contractor under way

Due in Q4 Detailed designs for Whitehaven and Cleator Moor have been 
drawn up as a result of public consultation.  These are being 
taken back to the Project Group, then the respective Town 
Councils during Q4.  Millom and Egremont are both subject to 
potential TROs (Traffic Regulation Orders), so are being 
advanced with County involvement.

Expanding the reach of the Pride of Place 
regeneration scheme through the recent 
changes made and implementing the public 
realm element.

Q4 Q4 Capital works started Due in Q4

Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan
Progress Report for Quarter 3 of 2018/19

                            Appendix A

P
age 73



2

Key Deliverable 03 _ Parking Strategy

Action Description Quarter Milestone
Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q2
Q2 Scope of work agreed During Quarter one an initial meeting was held with key partners 

to start to scope the strategy and discuss the use of digital 
innovation in parking.

Q3
Q3 Partnership arrangements in place CCC carried out tender exercise to procure agreed partner to 

deliver parking strategy. 
 

Working with strategic partners to deliver a 
cohesive car parking strategy to address 
needs and concerns of residents, 
businesses, workers and visitors to 
Whitehaven.

Q4 Q4 Parking Strategy in Place Due in Q4  

Key Deliverable 04 _ Support communities to develop Local housing solutions.

Action Description Quarter Milestone
Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1
Q1 First scheme agreed Third Scheme agreed - Ulpha Alms Houses

 
(previous two - Distington and Time to Change underway)

Q2

Q2 Grant spend profiling and Third (Ulpha) scheme 
progressed to next phase o

Three projects in receipt of funding and being monitored, bid for 
82k made to homes England, profiling of spend reported 
through to full council this quarter

Q4
Q3 Rural Housing Needs Evaluation Model – report 
receive and shared with Cumbria Housing Group. Due in Q4

Date amended for project completion, as the model is 
developed but now testing phase is underway.  Agreed end 
march for roll out and close down.

Maintain our focus on community led housing 
opportunities throughout the borough and in 
particular where second home ownership 
impacts on both urban and rural settlements 
housing supply and affordability.

Q4
Q4 Grant spend profiling and number of schemes 
progressed to next phase of key delivery. Due in Q4

 

P
age 74



3

Key Deliverable 05 _ Develop an Environmental Regeneration Programme.

Action Description Quarter Milestone
Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1 Q1 Coastal Initiative development and funding bid made  

Q2

Q2 audit and mapping of open spaces and identification of 
scope opportunities

Stage 1 (June - November 2018):
• Reviewing and updating grounds maintenance plot information 
to ensure ownership and maintenance responsibilities are up to 
date. 
• Developing a new GIS layer to incorporate CBC grounds 
maintenance information to include plot feature, quantity, area 
and maintenance frequencies. 

Q3
Q3 Coastal initiative scope finalised Coastal programme updated and Business Case in place.  

Application to Coastal Communities Fund submitted to support 
programme, with further applications ongoing.

To work with key partners in and outside 
the borough to develop a vision and 
programme of Heritage assets and Open 
Spaces to add value and complement the 
World Heritage Site Status as it impacts on 
the social, environmental and economic 
wellbeing of Copeland

Q4
Q4 Development plan for second initiative against 
environmental regeneration programme Due in Q4

 

Key Deliverable 06 _ Local Plan

Action Description Quarter Milestone
Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q3

Q3 Consult on Preferred Options for the Local Plan The production of the Local Plan has been slowed due to staff 
resource and recruitment issues.  As such the Preferred Options 
are now expected to be ready for consultation later in 2019 
(Summer/early Autumn).  This will have a knock on effect on the 
production of the Pre-Submission Draft of the Local Plan.

To review and update the Copeland Local 
Plan to enable creative and new housing 
led regeneration schemes to be identified 
and delivered.

Q4
Q4 Agreement of Pre-submission draft Local Plan by Full 
Council Q1 2019-20 Due in Q4

 

P
age 75



4

Key Deliverable 07 _ CBC role is to assist community engagement re Egremont Flood Defences

Action Description Quarter Milestone
Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

To work with lead partners and the 
communities of Egremont in ensuring the 
delivery of the externally funded Egremont 
Flood Defences planned for Skirting and 
Whangs Beck.

Q4

Q4 Community engagement and preparations to start 
work on site and involvement in the project.

Due in Q4

Key Deliverable 08 _ Open for business conference and 2 smaller spin-off summits

Action Description Quarter Milestone
Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1
Q1 Hold second OFB Conference Second open for business conference held in April 2018

Q2
Q2 1 OFB specialized spin-off summit Specialised OFB Tourism Seminar is organized for 23rd 

November 2018.  This is to be followed by workshops to be held 
at the Beacon on 5th and 12th November 2018.

Deliver a second Open for Business 
Conference to continue the momentum built 
from the first two years of the Mayors 
engagement with all levels of the local 
business community and national supply 
chain operating locally.

Q4 Q4 Hold second spin-off summit Due in Q4  

Key Deliverable 09 _ Agreed corporate approach on development of the digital approaches to support social and economic diversification

Action Description Quarter Milestone
Was the 

milestone 
met?

Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q4 Q3 Development of digital brief and priorities Due in Q4 Funding in place, with brief to be completed in Q4Finish early work on digital opportunities 
under the Copeland Growth Strategy through 
the launch and running early projects of a 
Copeland Digital Strategy aimed at economic 
and social benefits for residents and 
businesses.

Q4

Q4 Agreed partnership approach to deliver against 
digital priorities

Due in Q4

 

P
age 76



5

Key Deliverable 10_ Set up a DMO West Cumbria led by UCLan.

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q2
Q2 1stDraft Destination Management Plan agreed and 
TIC development resource secured (student placement)

Student in place since Sept

Q2

Q2 DMO Board set up and governance in place. A Destination Management arrangement has been put in place 
which oversees the placement students on Tourism in both 
Copeland and Allerdale and link their work together through a 
joint working arrangement.
 
A business led tourism group is already in place for Copeland 
which the Council works with.

Q3 Q3 TIC operational  Tourist Information Point will be operational for Easter 2019 - 
Q4 

Set up a DMO West Cumbria led by UCLan.
(Destination Management Organisation)
 Set up a TIC in Whitehaven
Actively contribute and work with UCLAN and 
other West Cumbria partners to target the 
tourism opportunities in the borough 
including the opening of a Tourist Information 
Centre in Whitehaven.

Q4 Q4 TIC embedded Due in Q4  

P
age 77



6

Commercialisation

Key Deliverable 11_ Beacon Museum - New five-year collaboration agreement and business plan with our key collaborator Sellafield.

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q2
Q2 18-19 –Draft Five Year Business Plan for the 
Beacon Museum 

Draft in progressProduce and agree a second five year 
collaborative commercial business plan 
for the Beacon Museum (2019-2024)

Q3 Q3 Business plan agreed by Executive and Full 
Council.

 Business plan under developement

Key Deliverable 12_ Bereavement services investment programme.

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1

Q1 Establish a Project Management Team and 
procure external support.

Fortnightly project team established which includes 
representatives from Finance, Property, Procurement and 
Projects. A monthly programme meeting cycle has also been 
established and is chaired by the Executive Director and 
includes a range of service reps, including Communications, 
Legal and Property as required.  

To deliver the Bereavement Services 
investment programme (2018-2021) 
beginning with the Distington 
Crematorium

Q2

Q2 Final design of the Crematorium investment. Rose Project Management commissioned as consultants to 
support the procurement of the second cremator / abatement 
system and the crematorium redesign, including second chapel 
area. Initial feasibility works completed which has included 
building surveys, measured drawings, appraisal / options for 
locating equipment, appraisal of chimney stack and flue, and 
provided a range of information which will support the future 
development of a bereavement services business plan. Next 
stages of work to include the development of PQQ and ITT to 
support procurement of the second cremator and abatement 
systems, and completion of architect's brief.  Tendering works 
almost underway to secure specialist project management and 
architect resources to progress project to the next stage.

P
age 78



7

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q2

Review and draft new Cemetery and Crematorium 
Regulations and engage Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
in this process

First draft of revisions prepared and presented to OSC panel on 
30 July 2018.  Work is now underway to prepare a final draft for 
approval which incorporates recommendations from OSC, and a 
Communications Plan to support the implementation of the new 
rules.
Outline proposals due to be presented to Informal Executive in 
early September with stakeholder engagement planned for mid 
Sept.  Next meeting of the OSC Task & Finish Group planned 
for 14 September 2018 with final report programmed to be 
presented to Executive in early October.

Q4

Q4 – Contract/works completed.

Due in Q4

• Initial feasibility works completed (June 2018) 

• Works to tender for specialist project management and 
architect resources underway (July 2018).  

Q4

Q4 - Impact on existing service
Reporting quarterly within our existing Project 
Management Framework. Due in Q4

• Fortnightly project management meetings in place 

• Monthly Programme oversight meetings in place 

• Risk Register in place and reviewed at above meetings  

Q4

Q4 Business Plan and contract in place and works 
started.

Actions ongoing - expected completion of all now expected in 
Q4
Technical Project Manager appointed
Architect Services tendered and appointed
Design team established.
Cremator tender published and currently being evaluated

Q4 Q4 Planning application approval Planning application approval now expected in Q4

P
age 79



8

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1

Q1 - Initial scoping of project to develop and expand 
Trade Waste Services

Despite the domestic recycling service being the focus of the 
Waste team’s attention during the period, the trade waste 
customer base continues to increase including during Q1. 
Methods used to increase customer base include refreshed 
advertising leaflet sent out with annual NNDR bills and 
advertising on the side of our vehicles.
Initial exploration with input from the commercial team  
concluded that a project team would be formed to support 
opportunities to  development and further expand trade waste 
services, It is now anticipated that Project plan and PID to 
develop  will be drafted in Q3

Q3

Q3 Setting up project with plan and PID which set 
out all targets and timescale.

While there have been initial discussions involving the 
commercial team, due to a lack of capacity within the Waste 
team, this project has not been progressed. Some additional 
capacity will be available on Q4 with the appointment of the new 
Deputy community Services manager.

Develop our trade waste services 
and in particular look to the 
opportunities to shift to recycling 
bulky commercial materials and 
service efficiencies

Q4 Q4 - Review of outcomes report. Due in Q4  

Key Deliverable 14_ Approval of Asset Management Strategy (AMS)

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1
Q1 Successful recruitment of Property and Assets 
Manager

Property and Estates Manager now in post

Q3
Q3 Asset Management Strategy Drafted Two working group meetings held and frequency of meetings 

changed to weekly. The CAT policy is going to OSC on 8th Feb 
and then to Exec on 12th.

Q4 Q4 AMS Approval Due in Q4  

Focus on the strategic management 
of our assets to maximise 
commercial opportunities and where 
appropriate ensure acquisition of 
assets with commercial potential

Q4
Q4 ASM implementation and delivery plan drafted 
for 2019-2 budget Due in Q4

 

Key Deliverable 13_ Offer targeted service to Trade Waste customers against bulky and cardboard.

P
age 80



9

 Employment, Skills and Social Well-being

Key Deliverable 15_ Social Inclusion

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1

Q1 Annual review of strategic partnerships 
significance.

CLT review of strategic partnerships carried out in Q1.  With 
recapped details about whether CBC is the lead partner and 
whether the partnership is statutory. Annual report to be 
received by Audit and Governance Committee in Q2.

Q2
Q2 Launch council wide social inclusion check list 
to be embedded and used by all departments.

This has been put back to Q4 as SI Board has been revising 
policy and action plan to go to full council.  This needs to 
happen first then roll out check list

Q3 Q3 Social Inclusion Action Plan The Social Inclusion Board meets monthly and the SI action 
plan is reviewed each time.  

To use Council’s resources, partners and 
commitments to ensure relevant assets 
are available to underpin the social 
inclusion policy priorities and programme.

Q4 Q4 Social Inclusion annual report ‘outturn position’. Due in Q4  

Key Deliverable 16_ Social Investment Programme

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1
Q1 Monthly meetings with DWP, PEC, CAB, credit 
union and other relevant orgs to discuss and 
mitigate the impact of digital and financial exclusion.

Monthly meetings continue.   Through meetings the DPA with 
DWP is monitored in relation to Universal Credit full service and 
the impact of welfare reform.

Q1 Q1 Social investment programme priorities agreed 
by Executive. 

Report drafted for Executive Q1.  Executive postponed to Q2 
where're report will be presented for agreement.

Q2
Q2 Financial inclusion project agreed Funding via CCF approved so this constitutes project having 

been agreed, preparation of CCF grant documentation and SLA 
underway

Q4
Q4 Delivery Partnership Agreement annual report 
‘outturn position’.

Due in Q4  

Keep our strong commitment to our 
social inclusion policy through our 
programme of projects and delivery 
through a range of local agencies 
closest to vulnerable residents of 
Copeland.
 
Working closely with our partners we 
aim to keep focused on the impact of 
welfare reform in the borough and 
ensuring available resources are 
targeted to alleviate impact on 
families and individual residents.

Q4 Q4 Social Investment programme annual report 
‘outturn position’.

Due in Q4  

P
age 81



10

Key Deliverable 17_ Beacon Education Programme

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1
Q1 Deliver programme and new project New programme and project agreed.  'A brave new world' 

project focusing on the 100 years’ armistice since the end of 
WW1 has engaged with a number of local schools during Q1. 

Q2 Q2 Deliver programme and deliver 1 new project Poppies project  - school and family engagement project for 
remembrance Sunday

Q3
Q3 Review programme and identify additional 
resources

 Review of draft learning Programme awaiting further discussion 
from leadership team. Additional resources/funding streams to 
be finalised

Education and learning approach, in 
collaboration with SL and with West 
Cumbrian Schools to ensuring 
relevance with the national 
curriculum and local interest and 
heritage looking to opportunities to 
expand the offer moving forward.

Q4 Q4 Set priorities for programme next year. Due in Q4  

Key Deliverable 18_ Well Whitehaven

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Work with local industry and 
partners to ensure resources are 
leveraged to make a difference to 
the lives of Copeland residents.

Q4 Q4 Year-end reports Due in Q4  

Key Deliverable 19 _Delivery of the Copeland Work and Skills Programme

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1 Q1 Start new work experience pilot Pilot underway with Copeland as a key partner. Match funding 
for 'Raising our Potential' project was committed by CCF in Q1.

Q2 Q2 Realising our potential project launched. Agreed launch date of 1st November

Q3 Q3 Agreed priorities with partners moving forward Priorities agreed with Work and Skills Partnership, plus early 
discussions held with potential funding partners.

Continue with our leadership role 
and facilitation of the Copeland Skills 
and Work Partnership and 
Programme. Identifying and enabling 
focused and complementary projects 
that meet gaps in services needed 
thereby benefitting local residents 
and maintaining local provision of Q4 Q4 New programme developed for next phase of Due in Q4  

P
age 82



11

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

services. delivery

Key Deliverable 20_Six additional apprentices at Copeland

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1
Q1 Initiate recruitment process Adverts for apprentices were posted in Q1.  Closing date for 

shortlisting is 30th July 2018.

Q2 Q2 apprentices to start 5 External and 1 Internal Apprentice started on 3/9/2018.  

Expand the Copeland Apprentice 
Scheme through a second cohort of 
six apprentices to the Council.

Q3 Q3 Successful completion of 2017/18 progression 
and evaluation.

Evolution completed.  All 6 apprentices in 2017/18 cohort to be 
offered 1 extension to apprenticeship until March 2020.

Key Deliverable 21 _ Health and wellbeing Forum

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1

Q1 regular representation at Copeland Health and 
wellbeing Forum to monitor delivery against Health 
and wellbeing priorities.

Copeland Health and wellbeing Forum continue to meet 
regularly.  In Q1 the forum was expanded, reviewed priorities 
will be drafted and agreed in Q2.

Q2

Q2 Forum priorities reviewed and agreed. Priorities reviewed and agreed three priority projects, these are 
social prescribing project, healthy towns and places and healthy 
weight for all, with a focus on primary children.  The H&WB 
Forum also continue to support alcohol awareness and hoarding 
projects.

Q3

Q3 Evaluating impact of projects  

Using the Copeland Health and 
Wellbeing Forum to ensure health 
and care resources are allocated to 
Copeland and that joint working is 
responsive to local issues and needs 
particularly around physical health 
through our contract with leisure 
providers Greenwich Leisure Limited 
and our range of existing service 
delivery areas which impact on all 
aspects of health and wellbeing.

Q4 Q4 End of year review report. Due in Q4  

P
age 83



12

Key Deliverable 22 _ Domestic Abuse & Sexual Exploitation Prevention Project

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1

Q1 Newspaper and social medial released 
promoting the service

Three media campaigns to promote the service have been 
carried out to date, these were in September and December 
2017 and June 2018.  media campaigns have included, press 
releases, TV and radio interviews and social media releases.

Q2

Q1 Quarterly review of service user feedback 
through KPI

This KPI is about closed cases - whilst we have had over 20 
cases only a small number have been closed as the cases are 
complex and lengthy.  Not reviewed in Q4 of 17/18 for that 
reason.  Have agreed questions for survey, unfortunately key 
worker GR is off due to bereavement and so access to cases 
limited and the woman need to hear from GR that this contact 
will be made as they trust her and that trust needs to be 
protected. Set a new target deadline end August for Q1

Q2
Q2 Review effectiveness of referral processes to 
other key support services including Let Go, CAB, 
HAWCs

Meeting held with HAWCs and satisfaction survey undertaken.  
further bid made for extension of services

The Copeland Hub has consolidated 
its role and multi-agency approach 
and we will work to assist in 
developing and growing the 
capability of the Hub to deliver 
increased joint activity and services.

Q4
Q4 Identify funding resources to maintain attention 
km, Due in Q4

 

Key Deliverable 23_ Copeland Hub

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1
Q1 ASB priority action plan Hub and ASB priority planning complete. Supported by Hub 

referral, investigation and partner meetings.

Q2 Q2 Monitoring local statistics Local stats are monitored and reviewed at regular joint meetings  

Q3 Q3Hub project developed Projects (JASS/Future Pathway/Priority Areas/CSP/PSPO's)

The Copeland Hub has consolidated 
its role and multi-agency approach 
and we will work to assist in 
developing and growing the 
capability of the Hub to deliver 
increased joint activity and services.

Q4 Q4 Annual Report Due in Q4  

P
age 84



13

Strengthening the way we operate

Key Deliverable 24_ Cyber Security

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1
Q1- Disaster recovery Plan in place for ICT. Industry standard robust back-up solution is now in place.  Data 

backed-up and recoverable from at 3 sites (Copeland Centre, 
Moresby and London)

Q1
Q1- Network Security model implemented Industry standard network security model has now been 

implemented , this limits he of a virus to cause damage across 
the estate.

Q1
Q1- PSN remediation work completed and 
accreditation.

PSN remediation works largely complete.  PSN accreditation 
awarded in Q1 meaning CBC have met the criteria and have 
been re-connection to government departments.

Q1 Q1- Reconvening of ICT Strategy working group ICT Strategy working group reconvened and had initial 
meetings.

Q1
Q1- weekly patch tests to windows based systems 
established

All windows based applications and support systems are  
patched weekly with security and critical updates (Patch 
Tuesday)

Q1 Q1-Monitoring systems on place for network Improved monitoring systems are now in place which will alert 
ICT staff to any unusual system behaviour.

Q1
Q1-Weekly Communications to all staff Weekly communications e-mails established to inform all staff of 

cyber security activity and updates and necessary good practice 
and procedures.

Q2

Q2 Draft ICT Strategy First draft of strategy reviewed by CLT and main principles 
agreed.  Further stakeholder feedback is being sought with the 
next draft of strategy to be reviewed by CLT by the end of the 
calendar year.

Q2
Q2-Plan in place for systems update, upgrade or 
alternative solutions plan in place

assessment carried out and plan in place to determine whether 
all of our business application and systems need an upgrade, 
update or alternative solution.

Q3 Q3 - update on delivery against improvement plan New permanent ICT Manager appointed.

To maintain attention on Cyber 
Security during 2018/19 completing 
the programme of change required 
to reduce our risk and ensure our 
new network is embedded. To 
review all business applications and 
support systems  and  determine 
whether an update, upgrade or 
alternative system solution is 
required.

Q4 Q4 ICT Strategy Agreed Due in Q4 V.0.2 of draft strategy to be reviewed by CLT by end of the 
calendar year.

P
age 85



14

Key Deliverable 25_ Uniform Document Management System from IDOX

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1 Q1- IDOX project initiated and delivery plan agreed Project begun, some slippage due to staffing issue at IDOX.  
Project delivery plan drafted and agreed by CLT in Q1

Q2 Q2 - IDOX hosted system built and training begun. System built and training of key staff is underway.

Q3

Q3 - Training delivered and data migration 
underway.

Training delivery – some additional needs identified.  Plan in 
place to meet these in February. 
 
Data Migration – underway.

To improve processed and delivery 
of planning, building control and land 
charges functions

Q4 Q4Implementation of 'Uniform' doc mgmt. system 
from IDOX. Due in Q4  

Key Deliverable 26_ Website Refit

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1 Q1-Initial restart of website project Interim Technical Project Manager appointed and website 
project restarted. 

Q2

Q2- Website project plan to be finalised Head of Governance and Commercial assigned project lead for 
website refit.
2 phase approach to website refit and digitisation of services 
agreed CLT in Q2. Initial work commenced on revised PID and 
outline business case. 

Q3
Q3 Revised draft PID and outline business case 
completed for 2 phase approach to website refit and 
digitisation of services.

Ph1 for improvement to home and landing pages, 
responsiveness and taxonomy completed within PID and 
Tender specification

To deliver a new fit for purpose 
website able to meet our customer 
strategy requirements of fully 
accessible groups of services 
available by a district council.

Q4
Q4 -Phase 1 of website refit completed - redesign, 
content review and increased to functionality of our 
current webpage.

Due in Q4
Q3 - As at Jan, tender awarded and project timescale submitted. 
Redesign of home page in progress.  Completion schedules by 
March 2019

P
age 86



15

Key Deliverable 27_GIS uplift to hosted site

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1 Q1- Enterprise License agreement and SLA in 
place for ARC online GIS system

 The GIS is central tin much of the 
Councils intelligence and operation 
and the processes of upgrading will 
be completed in 2018/19

Q3

Q3- Priority layers of GIS system pushed up to ARC 
GIS online system and available to staff.

Significant progress on the GIS Migration project has been 
made, however the task has not been completed during Q3 
owing to prioritisation of Idox project.  There is some work 
remaining and issues to be resolved in relation to access to an 
Aerial photograph for UK web mapping and tasks to be 
completed to ensure Idox migration to ensure that GIS layers 
are made available to and from Idox.
 Expectation is that GIS should be ready for staff by the end of 
March

Key Deliverable 28_Modgov upgrade

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1 Q1 Scoping for Modgov project Project Brief agreed

Q2
Q2 Advanced Modgov training for Electoral and 
Democratic Services staff

Training undertaken by Dem Services Staff in July 2018

Q3

Q3Train the trainer training for staff to be able to 
cascade learning in-house

In-house training provided to CLT
2 sessions planned for Feb 19 as part of the Core Training 
Directory for all other Managers or report writer to attend.

The Modgov system will be fully 
embedded in the Council in 2018/19.

Q4
Q4 In-house staff and member training provided on 
Modgov ongoing review of usage and uptake Due in Q4

 

P
age 87



16

Key Deliverable 29 _Data protection

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Overall Progress of 
Key Deliverable

Q1

Q1 Refreshed data protection policy and GDPR 
preparations completed. Training offered to elected 
members.

Refreshed Data Protection Policy approved in Q1.
GDPR preparations made for26.05.18 launch.
Information Asset Register now in place.
GDPR training provided for members during September, 
November and July.
 42/50 members trained to date and a further training session is 
planned in August for remaining members. 

Q2

Q2 Mandatory Data Protection and GDPR 
compliance training to all staff

Mandatory training offered to all staff and Members and 
apprentices.  80% take-up rate for staff, 70% for members and 
100% for apprentices.
  Further training courses to accommodate those who did not 
attend the first time and subsequent new starters will be run 
again.

Q3

Q3 updated Document retention and disposal policy 
agreed.

The Document Retention and Disposal policy was updated in 
May 2017 for GDPR. A follow-up review, 1 year later, will be 
carried out in Q4.

To manage the challenges of 
national policy developments and 
global issues including data 
protection, information management 
and cyber security.

Q4 Q4 Refreshed Information Management Strategy Due in Q4  

 

P
age 88



1

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q3

Target for 
Q3

Value Vs 
Target at 
end of Q3

Was the 
target 
for Q3 
met?

How does this compare to 
Q3 in 2017/18?

Analysis of Q3 performance and 
notes from Managers

Overall 
ANNUAL 

target for 
this KPI

KPI 1.1  Percentage of Council Tax collected 83.98% 71.25% 12.73%

87.21% collected by Q3 of 2017/18

95%

KPI 1.2  Number empty homes <6months 
brought back into use

33 8.75 24.25

29 empty homes brought back into 
use at end of Q3 2017/18

33 is the total for Q3. Combined year to 
date is 59 homes brought back into use

35

KPI 3.1  Percentage of Non-domestic Rates 
Collected

94.48% 74.02% 20.46%

95.04% collected by Q3 2017/18
0.56% difference

98.70%

KPI 3.4 Number of apprenticeships within 
the Council each year

8 6 2

8 apprentices in Q3 of 2017/18

6

KPI 3.5 a_ Speed of processing - new HB 
claims

12.5 22 -9.5

New HB and CTRS claims took a 
combined average of 36.22 days to 

process in Q3 of 2017/18 

22

KPI 3.5 b_ Speed of processing - new CTR 
claims

20.81 22 -1.19

As KPI 3.5a

22

KPI 3.8 Homeless relief cases 92% 90% 2%

Baseline measure for 2018/19

90%

KPI 3.9 Domestic Abuse Project 100:% 95:% 5:%

Baseline measure for 2018/19

95:%

KPI 4.1 Percentage of complaints resolved at 
stage one

93.00% 90.00% 3.00%

81.33% complaints resolved at 
stage one in Q3 of 2017/18

90.00%

KPI 4.4b Percentage CTAX collected using 
DDeb payment method

61.9% 60% 1.9%

Baseline measure for 2018/19

60%

Key Performance Indicators
Performance Report for Quarter 3 of 2018/19

Appendix B

P
age 89



2

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q3

Target for 
Q3

Value Vs 
Target at 
end of Q3

Was the 
target 
for Q3 
met?

How does this compare to 
Q3 in 2017/18?

Analysis of Q3 performance and 
notes from Managers

Overall 
ANNUAL 

target for 
this KPI

KPI 5.1 Percentage of 'major' planning 
applications determined within 13 weeks

100.00% 65.00% 35.00%

100% achieved in Q3 of 2017/18

65.00%

KPI 5.2 Percentage of planning 'minor' 
planning applications determined within 8 
weeks

98.00% 80.00% 18.00%

95.28% achieved in Q3 2017/18

80.00%

KPI 5.3 Percentage of 'other' applications 
determined within 8 weeks

97.60% 80.00% 17.60%

95.75% achieved in Q3 of 2017/18

80.00%

KPI 1.3  Number of new homes approved 43 75 -32

42 new homes approved in Q3 of 
2017/18

The annual target for this KPI is set by 
central government at 300.  At the end 
of Q3 the total number of new homes 
APPROVED in Copeland over quarters 
1,2 and 3 is 180.
This compares to a cumulative total of 
58 new homes built by the end of the 
same period (Q3) in 2017/18.

300

KPI 1.4  Number of new homes built 28 75 -47

40 new homes built in Q3 of 
2017/18

At the end of Q3 the total number of 
NEW homes built in Copeland over 
quarters 1,2and 3 is 76.

300

KPI 1.5 Number of AFFORDABLE homes 
BUILT

0 11.25 -11.25

No affordable homes built in Q3 of 
2017/18

At the end of Q3 the total number of 
AFFORDABLE homes built in Copeland 
over quarters 1,2and 3 is 0.

35

KPI 1.6  Number of new executive homes 
built

8 11.25 -3.25

11 new executive homes built in Q3 
of 2017/18

At the end of Q3 the total number of 
new EXECUTIVE homes built in Copeland 
over quarters 1,2and 3 is 26.

45

KPI 1.7 External funding for Economic 
Development Secured

£265000.00 £375000.00 -£110000.00
£5100000.00 was committed from 
the Well Whitehaven programme at 
end of Q3 2017/18

Second tranche Well Whitehaven - 
£200k

SL Social Impact programme - £65k

£500,000.00

KPI 2.1 Additional income generated through 
Commercial activity

£0.00 £139000.00 -£139000.00 End of year figure will be presented 
in Q4.

KPI will be reported as an end of year 
figure.

£139000.00

P
age 90



3

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q3

Target for 
Q3

Value Vs 
Target at 
end of Q3

Was the 
target 
for Q3 
met?

How does this compare to 
Q3 in 2017/18?

Analysis of Q3 performance and 
notes from Managers

Overall 
ANNUAL 

target for 
this KPI

KPI 3.6 a_ Speed of processing - changes of 
circumstances for HB claims

11.98 10 1.98

Change of circs. HB and CTRS 
claims took a combined average of 

22.62 days to process in Q3 of 
2017/18 

10

KPI 3.6 b_ Speed of processing - changes of 
circumstances for CTR claims

11.36 10 1.36

As KPI 3.6a

10

KPI 4.2 Percentage of Freedom of 
information requests resolved within 
timescale

84.00% 90.00% -6.00%

83.87% in Q3 of 2017/18

• 182 new FOI requests received and 
validated.
 
156 responded to within 20 working day 
timeframe, equates to 84% - in red but 
in part due to dual role working of IMO 
in Dec 2018 and likely to continue to 
impact upon 2019 - Q1 returns. 

90.00%

KPI 4.3 a_ Percentage of household waste 
sent for reuse, recycling and composting  
(NI192)

39.00% 40.00% -1.00%

35.57% in Q3 of 2017/18

Data for Q3 is incomplete and the 39% 
includes only to end November. The 
figure reflects the end of the seasonal 
garden waste service and a slight 
reduction in kerbside tonnages which 
have recovered in December and early 
January. The target for the year end 
remains achievable.  

40.00%

KPI 4.3 b_ Percentage reduction in residual 
household waste

5.5% 6:% 0.5% Data is April to Nov only as data for 
December is not yet available. 

6:%

KPI 4.4a Percentage of NDR collected using 
DDeb payment method

34.21% 60% -25.79%

Baseline measure for 2018/19

Many businesses prefer to pay by CHAPS or 
BACS rather than direct debit. 

60%

P
age 91



4

The Council also monitor a number of data trends which are outside of the influence of the Council, however they are of interest to the Council in 
relation to the achievement of its strategic ambitions.  Details for Quarter three are listed in the following table;

Data Monitor list - These measures are not within CBC influence or control, therefor monitored only in support of our corporate 
priorities.

Value at end of Q3 2018/19

Number of empty business premises within the borough. 205

Number of new businesses within the borough. (New business registrations) 31
Number of repeat homelessness cases.in 2 years 6

Number of homelessness cases where Welfare Reform is a factor. 8
Number of Domestic Violence Incidents with a repeat victim. Data not available

P
age 92



Executive 12/02/2019

Bi-Annual Health & Safety Report 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore Portfolio Holder Nuclear & 
Corporate Services

LEAD OFFICER: Jo McLeod, Head of Corporate Resources

REPORT AUTHOR: Dorothy Beckett Occupational Health and Safety Adviser

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS?

All Council activities have the potential to impact on Copeland Residents therefore, it is important that 
activities are managed so they are carried out in a safe manner.

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?

The Executive have asked to be kept informed of the management of health and safety for all Copeland 
Borough Council employees and the impact the activities of the Council have on residents and visitors to 
the Borough.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) The Executive note the Bi-Annual Report on Health and Safety on the actions to comply with all relevant 
health and safety legislation.

b) Approve the proposal outlined in paragraph 2.1 B that the Council seek to obtain ISO 45001, 
Occupational Health and Safety standard.

c)  Approve the proposal that the Council create a COSHH assessment form and complete COSHH 
assessments specific to hazardous substances used at CBC locations.

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 As an employer, Copeland Borough Council is required to comply with the Health and Safety at Work 
etc. Act 1974 and regulations made under that Act.  The Council must have arrangements in place to 
protect employees.  

1.2 The Health and Safety bi-annual report provides information on the arrangements for organising, 
planning, measuring performance and auditing and reviewing the arrangements for identified risks.  

2.0 HEALTH AND SAFETY BI-ANNUAL REPORT

2.1 The Health and Safety Bi-Annual Report covers:
A. Health and Safety Strategy – measurements of success

Development of a Risk Assessment Register and associated form templates have been completed. 
166 risk assessments have been input onto the register.   Training has commenced on Risk 
Assessments for Safety Committee members with an additional session scheduled on 1st March.  

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



Once training for Safety Committee members is completed it will be offered to Managers and Team 
Leaders.

B. Health and Safety Management – including policy and system actions
Consideration has been given to the requirements for accreditation to ISO standard 45001 – 
Occupational Health and Safety.  This is an OHS Management standard based on the previous British 
standard 18001 but is now a recognised internal standard. It ensures that employees know that CBC 
deem employee health and safety of importance.  It also ensures that documentation is current and 
changes to it are noted by inclusion of revision information and issue date.   It is recommended that 
the Council revise current processes to comply with the standards requirements with a view to 
submitting a formal application to obtain the accreditation.

Work continues on the development of a Health and Safety Strategy to identify areas for 
improvement in the current system and highlight priority topics to be addressed. This work began in 
April 2016 and will continue to be an on-going process.  Use of the Risk Assessment Ratings clearly 
identifies risks which need to be addressed and improved as a priority in the current system.

Development of a new Cautionary Risk Register policy and procedure is underway. This will ensure 
compliance with changes in GDPR, Health and Safety legislation updates and has incorporated 
feedback from all front-line departments, LMG, Information Management Officer, Corporate Solicitor 
and CLT. Additional project documentation to complement the new policy and procedure is also 
being developed.

C. Communication and Consultation
A working Health and Safety Committee has been established, which meets monthly.  All areas of 
CBC have involvement.  The committee is made up of Trade Union and Staff representatives.  

D. Training and Information
A centralised core curriculum, which includes a training timetable, for staff and members continues 
to be developed as more training needs are identified. This will include any new procedural changes 
alongside existing mandatory training.  An initial curriculum has been published alongside the launch 
of the new Aim High Process.

Health and Safety training has been completed on a number of health and safety topics outlined 
below:

Title
First Aid at Work
First Aid at Work refresher
National General Certificate in Occupational Health & Safety
Fire Warden 
Fatal workplace accident mock trial event
Near Miss training
Safety Committee training

Page 94



The following training will be made available over the next 6 months:

Title
First aid at Work (3 day course)
Manual Handling for Waste Loaders
Fire Warden 
Managing Safely
Near Miss
Manual Handling for Parks & Open Spaces operatives
Conflict Training (Revs & Bens, Housing, Customer Support)
Safety Committee training
Emergency First aid at Work (1 day course)
Emergency First aid at Work – HGV drivers

E. Measuring, reviewing and auditing performance
Work has continued to improve the overall Health and Safety Culture at the council.  Practical 
changes have been made as follows:

 Training on Near Misses, including the reinforcement of the core message about the 
importance of reporting of such incidents has been completed.  Incidents are now reported 
monthly to the Safety Committee, with the reported incidents increasing 3000%. 

 Following the implementation of GDPR, new accident books for buildings have been issued 
and obtained for vehicles.  The new format should encourage people to report accidents.

 Audits of local Risk Management Processes have been conducted during Health and Safety 
Support Visits (at department level), including an audit against compliance with working 
safely. This is also included in site inspections and routine walk rounds throughout the Council 
and any staff/members working outside of Council premises.  

3. PROPOSALS

3.1 Actions to manage health and safety for the many areas of works undertaken by Copeland Borough 
Council will continue as part of a robust management and governance system.

3.2 Quarterly reports of incidents and health and safety actions are submitted to Corporate Leadership 
Team and the Single Table Trade Union Group.

3.3 A twice a yearly report will be submitted to the Executive on management systems, policy, 
organisation, planning and implementing, monitor and measuring performance and audit and 
review.

3.4 A Council specific COSHH assessment template will be created and used for all products covered by 
the COSHH 2002 regulations.

3.5 Work to start on the Council obtaining ISO 45001 certification to allow all employees to verify that 
they are valued by the Council.

Page 95



4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED

4.1 There are no alternative options

5. CONCLUSIONS

5.1 Statutory Legislation - We are making process improvements to ensure that we continue to comply   
with the Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and the many associated Regulations. 

5.2 Corporate Safety, and investigative work, is an on-going process of management of health and safety.

5.3 We continue to develop a culture of Health and Safety responsibility and reporting within the Council 
and members with training and regular feedback sessions is a successful and ongoing process. 

6. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

6.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: The Council is reporting on activities in complying with 
statutory health and safety requirements. 

6.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: There are no financial implications arising directly from this 
report.

6.3 EIA Comments: Health and safety fully supports EIA principles.  One of the main aims of health and 
safety is to provide a safe working environment for all staff, and to ensure that others are not put at 
risk by our activities.  The Health and safety Advisor role plays an essential role in identifying 
workplace and other adaptations that may be needed to support people to start, remain, or return 
to work.

6.4 Other consultee comments, if any: None.

7. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS GOING TO BE 
MANAGED?

7.1 Not applicable.

8. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPORT?

8.1 Not Applicable.  

List of Background Documents:

 Copeland Health and Safety Strategy 2015 – 2020
 Health and Safety Executive - Successful Health and Safety Management (HSG 65)

Page 96


	Agenda
	2 Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 24 January 2019
	6 Forward Plan
	7 Crematorium and Cemeteries Management Rules
	Appendix I Management Rules updated 28.08.2018 (20) amended to included CAB comments 23.01.19
	Appendix II Communications Strategy
	Appendix III C-EIA Management Rules 28.12.18 (004)
	Appendix IV Bereavement Stakeholder Feedback
	Appendix V Exec cemetery rules Feb19

	8 2018/19 Council Performance Plan - Quarter 3
	Appendix A - Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan Report for Q3 of 2018-19
	Appendix B - KPI Report for Q3 of 2018-19 (Exec)

	9 Health and Safety Half Yearly Monitoring Report

